St. John's University St. John's Scholar

Theses and Dissertations

2024

DETERMINATION OF GENETIC VARIATION IN OPIOID-RESISTANT HOSPICE PATIENTS USING A PHARMACOGENOMICS APPROACH

Daniel Bianculli

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholar.stjohns.edu/theses_dissertations

Part of the Toxicology Commons

DETERMINATION OF GENETIC VARIATION IN OPIOID-RESISTANT HOSPICE PATIENTS USING A PHARMACOGENOMICS APPROACH

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

to the faculty of the

DEPARTMENT OF PHARMACEUTICAL SCIENCES

of

COLLEGE OF PHARMACY AND HEALTH SCIENCES

at

ST. JOHN'S UNIVERSITY

New York

by

Daniel Bianculli

Date Submitted <u>12/11/2023</u>

Date Approved <u>02/09/2024</u>

DANIEL BIANCULLI

DR. MARC GILLESPIE

© Copyright by Daniel Bianculli 2024

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

DETERMINATION OF GENETIC VARIATION IN OPIOID-RESISTANT HOSPICE PATIENTS USING A PHARMACOGENOMICS APPROACH

Daniel Bianculli

Managing pain requires a delicate balance between the advantages of opioid analgesia and the possible adverse effects. This balance becomes even more difficult in hospice and palliative care environments where dosage regimens are frequently ambiguous. Some hospice patients experience opioid resistance, in which opioids no longer produce an analgesic effect on a patient.

Evidence-based analyses frequently omit this vulnerable population, resulting in a need for concrete procedures. The emergence of pharmacogenomic analysis and personalized treatment presents a solution to this problem by using each patient's genomic data to interpret opiate dosing.

This pharmacogenomic study aimed to single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) influencing opioid response in 18 hospice patients aged 37-84 years (mean 63 years, 72% male). Participants had diagnoses including COPD, cancer, and HIV. Buccal swabs provided DNA for 50-gene panel genotyping. Medical records supplied demographic information, medication lists, chronic health conditions, morphine doses, pain scores, and palliative performance status data. Linear regression analysis identified single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) significantly impacting outcomes.

According to genomic analysis, individuals with the non-TT genotype of the

CNR1 gene were found to require, on average, a dose of morphine that was 102.3 mg lower than the dose required by individuals with the TT genotype of the same gene (p=0.031). The SLCO1B1 genotype and intermediate activity phenotype reduced average pain (p=0.046). The COMT non-MET homozygous phenotype increased maximum pain versus MET homozygotes (p=0.041). The CYP2B6 genotype and G516T heterozygous/A785G homozygous phenotype decreased maximum pain (p=0.050). The CYP4F2 poor metabolizer phenotype increased palliative performance versus other CYP phenotypes (p=0.028).

These findings show that genetic variants can modulate opioid metabolism and pain response in hospice patients. This study marks an essential step towards the goal of personalized medicine in pain management at the end of life, suggesting that genotype- guided opioid dosing regimens could potentially lead to improved pain management.

However, the sample size of 18 of this pioneering pharmacogenomic study in hospice patients underscores the need for larger-scale studies to validate the predictive utility of our findings.

DEDICATION

This is dedicated to my mother Virginia, my father Angelo and my brother Michael.

Without them, none of this would be possible.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I express my deepest gratitude to my advisor, Dr. Marc Gillespie, for his invaluable guidance, encouragement, and patience throughout this journey. I am grateful to be his student, as I've learned more than I could imagine under his mentorship. I want to thank Dr. Sunil Kumar, Dr. Jeanette Perron, Dr. Frank Schanne, and Dr. John Wurpel for being members of my committee. They graciously shared their time and knowledge with me and supported me on this project.

I'd also like to thank Dr. Yasmine Lashine for being a great friend and doctor whose enduring support and generous help have been instrumental to my progress over the years.

I want to extend my gratitude Dr. Ebtesam Ahmed who initially introduced me to this project and graciously helped me along this journey.

My heartfelt thanks go out to Jeremy Johnston, my best friend. Your willingness to listen and provide unconditional support and encouragement helped me through some difficult times.

I am deeply thankful to the PHS department and Dr. Vijaya Korlipara for the instrumental role they played by providing resources, assistance and support over the years.

Finally, I express my warm thanks to all of my friends in this department who went along with me on this journey.

DEDICAT	IONii
ACKNOW	/LEDGEMENTSiii
LIST OF 7	TABLESvi
LIST OF F	FIGURES
CHAPTER	R 1. INTRODUCTION 1
1.1	Hospice and Palliative Care
1.2	Pain Management
1.3	Opioid Pharmacodynamics
1.4	Opioid Pharmacokinetics
1.5	Opioid Resistance
1.6	Pharmacogenomics
1.7	Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms
1.8	Pharmacogenomics in Practice
1.9	Rationale
1.10	Hypotheses
CHAPTER	R 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS 17
2.1	Instruments Used
2.2	Pharmacogenomic Analysis
2.3	Ethics and Regulatory
2.4	Study Design
2.5	Database Construction
2.6	Statistical Analysis
CHAPTER	33. RESULTS
3.1	Demographic Data
3.2	Descriptive Statistics
3.2.1	Descriptive Statistics of Demographics
3.2.2	Descriptive Statistics of Main Variables

TABLE OF CONTENTS

 Maximum Pain
 42

 Morphine Milligram Equivalents
 44

3.2.3

3.2.4

3.3

3.4

3.4.13.4.2

3.4.33.4.4

CHA	PTE	R 4. DISCCUSION	
	4.1	Implications of Non-Genomic Data	
	4.2	Main Variables and Significant Relationships	
	4.3	Clinical Implications	
	4.4	Limitations	
	4.5	Conclusions and Future Research	86
APP	END	IX 1. FULL GENE, GENOTYPE AND PHENOTYPE LIST	
APP	END	IX 2. REGRESSION EQUATIONS	
REF	ERE	NCES	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Inclusion Criteria	. 31
Table 2: Patient Exclusion Criteria	. 32
Table 3: Patient Demographics	. 47
Table 4: Chronic Conditions in Cohort	. 48
Table 5: Morphine Milligram Equivalents	. 49
Table 6: Descriptive Statistics – Main Variables	. 50
Table 7: Descriptive Statistics – Opioid Side Effects	. 51
Table 8: Descriptive Statistics – Medication Interactions	. 52
Table 9: Regression Analysis – Age vs. MME	. 53
Table 10: Significant Morphine Side Effects Based on Demographic Information	. 55
Table 11: MME vs. Opioid Side Effects	. 56
Table 12: IFNL3 – Ethnicity and Phenotype	. 57
Table 13: Average Pain vs. Genomic Data	. 58
Table 14: Average Pain Genomic Summary	. 59
Table 15: Max Pain vs. Genomic Data	. 60
Table 16: Max Pain Genomic Summary	. 61
Table 17: Morphine Milligram Equivalents vs. Genomic Data	. 62
Table 18: Morphine Milligram Equivalents Genomic Summary	. 63
Table 19: Palliative Performance Scale vs. Genomic Data	. 64
Table 20: PPS% Genomic Summary	. 65
Table 21: Overall Genomic Effect on Average Pain	. 89
Table 22: Overall Genomic Effect on Maximum Pain	. 90
Table 23: Overall Genomic Effect on MME	. 91
Table 24: Overall Genomic Effect on PPS%	. 92

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1:	Palliative Performance Scale	
Figure 2:	Numerical Rating Scale for Pain	
Figure 3:	Numerical Opioid Side Effect Scale	
Figure 4:	Dose Conversion Table for MME	
Figure 5:	Patient Pharmacogenomic Report	
Figure 6:	Patient Report for All Genes	30
Figure 7:	Fitted Line Plot – Age vs. MME	54
Figure 8:	Matrix Plot of All Patients with All Variables	88

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Hospice and Palliative Care

As the population ages, the need for hospice and palliative care increases. The goal is to improve the quality of life for patients facing serious, chronic illnesses. Although often used interchangeably, there is a distinction between hospice and palliative care. In hospice care, the medical staff optimizes the quality of life and treatment is not conducted. In palliative care, treatment is continued along with quality-of-life improvements¹.

On the other hand, there are various scenarios where patients are placed under palliative care: a life-limiting illness though the patient is not terminally ill, a lifethreatening illness with potential for recovery, or a chronic condition where a patient is being treated but will eventually die². Examples of these illnesses include congestive heart failure (CHF) and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD).

Investigation into these populations is generally lacking, with most research focused on caregiving, access to care, and social issues. Clinical research was a significant gap in this patient population³. Palliative and hospice patients are also rarely involved in clinical trials. This is because of the many conditions they face, the large number of medications taken, and the likelihood of dropping out of the study due to deterioration in their health and age-related changes to drug activity⁴. These combinations of factors contribute to the stigma that hospice and palliative care research is too difficult to conduct in an evidencebased manner. Most research instead focuses on aspects such as health professionals in the field, access to hospice care and sociological aspects⁵ of end-of-life care (ex: Hispanic access to hospice care).

There is a crucial need to conduct more research on hospice and palliative care populations, as evidenced by the funding from the National Institutes of Health (NIH). In 2015, the NIH budget allocated only 0.2% for end-of-life care, with hospice research and palliative care sharing the same budget⁶. In the latest review of NIH funding for palliative care, the budget has only shown an increase in dementia and Alzheimer's studies at the federal level. This increase in funding does not represent growth in the research of palliative care itself⁷.

Because of this, fundamental gaps in our knowledge of hospice and palliative patients exist, especially in terms of evidence-based studies. More robust studies are needed to decrease treatment difficulty and provide the greatest quality of care and optimal outcomes.

1.2 Pain Management

Pain is a substantial burden in patient care, significantly impacting a patient's quality of life. Managing pain becomes much more complex and multifactorial in the palliative and hospice environment. Pain can result from the primary disease state and its treatments, such as surgery and narrow therapeutic index drugs⁸. There is also pain unrelated to the disease state, such as psychological factors, anxiety, depression, and anger⁹. All these factors make treatment difficult.

While there are many non-pharmacological and pharmacological methodologies for treating pain, opioids remain the front-line treatment. They are the most effective medications in terms of alleviating pain. Opioids come with their difficulties. Dosing opioids has always been problematic, with incredibly varied pain responses among patients¹⁰. Genetic variation among patients increases the likelihood of errors in dosing.

Currently, the FDA only recommends genomic testing for codeine and no other opioids¹¹. The palliative and hospice patient population is far from typical. They are likely over 65, have multiple co- morbidities, and take multiple medications¹². There is also the fact that palliative care patients stay much longer in the hospital than other patient populations¹², further increasing their vulnerability to dosing errors. In palliative care, errors in opioid prescribing are considered the primary cause of medical errors in the palliative care field¹². The most common medication error involving opioids was underdosing. Underdosing accounted for about 66% of the dosing error for opioids¹³.

The reasons for this are twofold: There is a lack of empirical-based research in palliative care¹⁴, making concrete methodologies challenging to establish with so few studies. Next, there is a lack of knowledge about prescribing opioids among healthcare professionals, along with misconceptions, myths, and fears of addiction¹⁵. Clinicians, caregivers, and others in the palliative and hospice field would benefit from additional tools to prevent opioid errors.

1.3 Opioid Pharmacodynamics

The creation of pain relief by opioids occurs by binding to G-protein-coupled receptors. The primary location of G-protein-coupled receptors is in the brain and spinal cord. The critical receptors involved in opioid pharmacology are the μ , δ , and κ receptors. The therapeutic role of opioids in pain management is versatile. They exhibit varying degrees of activity as a full agonist, partial agonist, or antagonist across many receptor types¹⁶.

These opioid receptors interact with G proteins and, as a result, can influence intracellular Ca²⁺ disposition and the phosphorylation of proteins¹⁷. Opioid receptors are

a type of G-protein-coupled receptor (Gi or Go), characterized by seven transmembrane regions. They close voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels on pre-synaptic nerve terminals, which reduces neurotransmitter release.

Second, they induce the opening of K⁺ channels, resulting in hyperpolarization and the subsequent inhibition of post-synaptic neurons¹⁸. Opioids have been observed to decrease neurotransmitter release through pre-synaptic action across a wide range of neurotransmitters, including glutamate (the primary excitatory amino acid released from nociceptive nerve terminals), acetylcholine, norepinephrine, serotonin, and substance P¹⁹.

These effects are mediated by the opioid receptor family. These receptors consist of the μ (mu), κ (kappa), δ (delta), and ORL1 (Nociceptin/Orphanin FQ) subtypes²⁰. The μ receptor is the most common and abundant of the opioid receptor family. The μ receptor plays a crucial role in supraspinal analgesia in addition euphoria. In the central nervous system (CNS), μ -opioid receptors are widely distributed²¹. In the periphery, μ opioid receptors can be found but are less prevalent than in the CNS. They appear in tissues like the intestines, which cause constipation associated with opioid use, as opioid binding to these receptors decreases intestinal motility. Individual genetic variations can affect binding to μ receptors²².

The opioid receptors in the CNS allow for the modulation of ascending and descending pain pathways. In the ascending pathways, which originate in the spinal cord and project to higher brain centers like the thalamus and cortex, opioids act by inhibiting neurotransmitter release from primary afferents. This diminishes the propagation of nociceptive signals²³. Conversely, opioids also affect descending pain pathways, specifically those originating from supraspinal sites²⁴. At these locations, opioids inhibit

neurons that would otherwise facilitate pain transmission²⁵. This opioid-induced neuronal inhibition leads to the activation of descending inhibitory neurons. These neurons send axons to the spinal cord, inhibiting pain- transmitting neurons and amplifying opioid analgesia²⁶.

1.4 Opioid Pharmacokinetics

Clinicians commonly administer opioids through subcutaneous, intramuscular, or oral routes, and these methods ensure effective absorption²⁷. The first- pass effect causes higher doses of some opioids, like morphine, when administered orally, compared to subcutaneous or intramuscular routes. Variability in the metabolism of oral opioids complicates accurate dosing. Codeine and oxycodone, less affected by first-pass metabolism, are better suited for oral administration²⁸. Transdermal patches can deliver high-potency analgesics and relieve pain for several days²⁹. When determining the optimal administration routes and doses, clinicians must consider the pharmacokinetic profile of each opioid. Once administered, all opioids bind to plasma proteins. The affinity for binding depends on the opioid in question. Despite this, the drugs rapidly leave the blood and localize in the tissues²⁸. They are in the highest concentration in the brain, lungs, liver, kidneys, and spleen. Drug concentrations may be low in skeletal muscle, but because of its greater bulk, skeletal muscle serves as the main reservoir for opioids²⁸. Accumulation in fatty tissues can be significant for certain opioids, especially after frequent high-dose opioid administration or a continuous infusion of highly lipophilic opioids that metabolize slowly, such as fentanyl³⁰.

Opioids undergo metabolism, resulting in the production of polar metabolites, most of which are glucuronides. The kidneys eventually eliminate these metabolites

through excretion. For example, the prototypical opioid morphine contains free hydroxyl groups. These hydroxyl groups are primarily conjugated to morphine-3-glucuronide (M3G), a compound with neuroexcitatory properties³¹. Around 10% of morphine is metabolized to morphine-6- glucuronide (M6G). M6G is an active metabolite with analgesic potency around four to six times that of morphine³². Despite this, these polar metabolites cannot cross the blood-brain barrier. Though, accumulating these metabolites may produce toxic effects in patients with renal failure or when exceptionally high doses are administered over a long period³³.

Codeine, oxycodone, and hydrocodone undergo metabolism in the liver by the P450 isozyme CYP2D6, producing metabolites of greater potency³⁴. Codeine is demethylated to morphine, and hydrocodone is metabolized to hydromorphone. Though oxycodone metabolites are not generally responsible for the analgesic activity of the medication, they can accumulate in cases of renal failure³⁵.

Opioids are primarily eliminated through urine excretion. Small amounts of unchanged drugs may be detected. Once more, the danger is renal impairment, with metabolites having an increased effect, especially at high doses³⁶.

1.5 Opioid Resistance

A critical phenomenon that contributes to the difficulty in opioid prescribing is opioid resistance. Though opioid resistance is sometimes used interchangeably with tolerance, these terms differ. Opioid resistance differs from opioid tolerance in several ways. In opioid tolerance, tolerance develops from repeated opioid exposure over time³⁷. Tolerance requires patients to take higher doses to achieve the same analgesic effect. The general mechanism is desensitization and downregulation of opioid receptors³⁸.

Opioid resistance is a phenomenon that is not solely attributed to prior or prolonged exposure to opioids. Opioid resistance manifests as an absence or markedly reduced efficacy of analgesic response even when the doses of opioids are escalated. This resistance can be categorized into innate and. There are multiple factors involved in opioid resistance. One such factor is epigenetic changes³⁹. A recent definition of epigenetics is 'the structural adaptation of chromosomal regions to register, signal or perpetuate altered activity stages'⁴⁰. Epigenetic changes are a bridge between genes and the environment.

In contrast to evolution, these changes can accumulate over a lifetime, allowing quick adaptability to changing environmental conditions⁴¹. They can be caused by environmental stressors as well as aging. These changes can also occur due to disease, particularly in cancer.

Two primary types of epigenetic changes occur in individuals: DNA methylation and histone modification via acetylation or methylation⁴². DNA methylation happens when methyl groups bind to cytosines at CG-dinucleotides within CpG islands, primarily found in upstream gene promoter regions⁴³. However, methylation can occur at any other loci throughout the genome. On the other hand, histone modifications alter chromatin conformation. Histone acetylation opens the chromatin, while deacetylation closes it. These mechanisms regulate gene expression throughout the chromosome⁴⁴.

In terms of opioids, epigenetic regulation, specifically the acetylation of lysine residues on histone proteins in spinal tissues, has modulated increased sensitivity to pain following surgical procedures and the development of reduced responsiveness to opioids, commonly referred to as tolerance⁴⁵. The desensitization of opioid receptors occurs when

G-protein-coupled receptor kinases facilitate the phosphorylation of these receptors, followed by arrestin binding⁴⁶.

Another factor that is involved in opioid resistance is microRNAs (miRNA). These are non-coding, functional RNAs that play essential roles in gene regulation. These are typically 17 to 24 nucleotides long. miRNAs can bind to protein-coding messenger RNA (mRNA) to post-transcriptionally repress protein expression⁴⁷. A large amount of expression of miRNA is found in the CNS. mRNA is responsible for neuronal development, including cell specificity and neuronal patterning⁴⁸. miRNAs are also still expressed in adult neurons at high levels. There has also been evidence that miRNAs can down-regulate the mu opioid receptor (MOR) ⁴⁹. One method includes miRNA-16 can bind to the 3'-untranslated region (3'-UTR) of mRNA and weaken the translation of MOR mRNA⁵⁰.

In addition to epigenetic factors and miRNA, there are individual genetic variations. These gene variations can affect the pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics of opioids⁵¹. These genetic variations further complicate opioid dosing. Hospice and palliative care patients can face significantly high doses of opioids that should be toxic (or even lethal) but have no effect at all, analgesic or otherwise, due to opioid resistance⁵².

1.6 Pharmacogenomics

Interindividual reactions to drugs, including opioids, falls under the study of Pharmacogenomics (PGx), a field focusing on the genome in drug response. This field seeks to understand how genes and genetic variation influence a patient's response to a particular drug. While considered relatively new, human geneticist Dr. Fredrich Vogel coined pharmacogenetics in 1959⁵³. Initially, this term was used to describe gene-drug

interactions. With the advent of the human genome project in the 1990s, pharmacogenetics became PGx. That is the study of how drugs interact with the total genome to influence biological pathways and processes⁵⁴.

An individual's drug response is the phenotype of a pharmaceutical compound's two important features: pharmacokinetics or pharmacodynamics. This results in four possible drug phenotypic expressions: efficacy without toxicity, efficacy with toxicity, toxicity without efficacy, or neither effect nor toxicity⁵⁵. The classic example of pharmacogenomic toxicity involves the gene Thiopurine methyltransferase (TMPT).

Thiopurines are first-line agents for myeloid leukemia and act as immunosuppressants. Genetic factors drive the metabolism of thiopurines and their efficacy⁵⁶. Thiopurines are a classic example of PGx in clinical medicine since anyone taking these drugs must undergo genetic testing. Genetic testing is required because *TMPT* is involved in the methylation of thiopurines, a phase II metabolic process⁵⁷. Alterations in the *TMPT* can have toxic and even lethal consequences. Those possessing a heterozygous *TMPT* variant exhibit reduced enzymatic activity for the metabolism of thiopurines and have a risk of increased toxic effects, which requires dose modulation⁵⁸. However, those with the homozygous variant do not have enzymatic activity to metabolize thiopurines and require an alternative treatment regimen for efficient care.

Though *TMPT* is just one gene involved in thiopurine metabolism. Others like *NUDT15* can contribute to the metabolic pathway and influence the toxicity of thiopurines⁵⁹. Their defined factors and severity make this a classic example of PGx in a clinical setting.

In PGx, various forms of genetic variations are investigated. These include Single

nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), structural variations from the addition or removal of base pairs (also known as indels), and substantial copy number variations that may lead to the complete absence or duplication of entire genes⁶⁰. These variations in genetic disposition can play a role in gene expression by modifying the regulation of transcription and the splicing process and leading to changes in amino acids or truncation of protein-coding sequences⁶¹.

1.7 Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms

SNPs are the most prevalent genetic variation in humans. The basis for human diversity is found in these single nucleotide variations dispersed across all species' genomes. SNPs occur in about one in every 300 nucleotide base pairs throughout the human genome. Approximately 10 million SNPs are present in the 3 billion nucleotides of the human genome⁶². These are base pair variations located at specific sites in human genes⁶³. Millions of SNPs exist in every individual, which makes them great use for biomarkers⁶⁴. Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) occur throughout the genome and can coexist within a genetic region. These SNPs are stable and do not change over time, making them ideal for consistent measurements⁶⁵. Additionally, measuring SNPs is a simple process that utilizes PCR-based testing, eliminating the need for complex and expensive assays⁶⁶.

SNPs may be present in coding or non-coding genome regions, and some may not impact the gene product. Sometimes, SNP in a non-coding region influences the transcription of the gene. In other instances, even a SNP in the coding region may not affect protein structure or function⁶⁷.

Synonymous SNPs substitute one nucleotide for another that does not change the

amino acid⁶⁸. Non-synonymous SNPs produce new encoded amino acids. The resulting altered proteins could possess different features. An example is a conformational alteration that may lead to a change in enzyme activities. In other cases, the function of the entire protein may be diminished⁶⁹. Nevertheless, synonymous SNPs still cause disease states and altered gene function. Previously, these were considered 'silent' or 'neutral.' This line of thought is no longer the case. Silent SNPs can result in abnormal mRNA splicing as well as mRNA stability. These factors, like non-synonymous SNPs, affect protein expression and enzymatic activity⁶⁸.

Because of this, SNPs can alter the pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics of drugs, including opioids. If SNPs are present, this may account for interindividual differences in response to opioid treatment⁷⁰. Genes containing SNPs may encode intracellular targets like transcription factors, drug transporters, receptors, or metabolic enzymes. The examples below represent a subset of the SNPs that may contribute to variability in opioid effects.

The gene for the human μ opioid receptor, OPRM1, is controlled by multiple promoters and comprises more than one hundred SNPs⁷¹. The 118A>G (which possesses the accession number in the SNP database [dbSNP] as rs1799971) has been the most studied variant in terms of pharmacogenomic research into opioid drugs⁷². This SNP is located in exon 1 of OPRM1 and substitutes adenine (A) for guanine (G). This results in an amino acid shift from asparagine to aspartic acid, leading to the receptor's loss of an N-glycosylation site⁷³. The loss of this site has been linked to several clinical effects, such as increased side effects from opioid doses⁷⁴. In patients with cancer pain, this genetic variation was associated with increases in morphine dose in order to achieve

proper pain management⁷⁵.

Uridine diphosphate glucuronosyltransferase family 2 member B7 (UGT2B7) is a metabolic enzyme involved in the glucuronidation of compounds, such as fatty acids⁷⁶. The central location where UGT2B7 is expressed is in the endoplasmic reticulum of hepatocytes. However, UGT2B7 can also be found in the gastrointestinal tract, kidney, pancreas, and brain⁷⁷. UGT2B7 metabolizes morphine into M3G (90%) and M6G (10%). Polymorphisms of *UGT2B7* have been implicated in influencing interindividual variability in morphine dosing. One study reported that the *UGT2B7*802T* allele experienced extended and more significant analgesic effects than those with the 802C allele. This may indicate that the 802T allele has reduced glucuronidation activity⁷⁸.

Somewhat related to UGT2B7 is the organic cation transporter isoform 1 (OCT1). The *SLC22A1* gene, which belongs to the solute carrier family 22, encodes the influx transporter called OCT1. *SLC22A1* is expressed in several tissues, predominant in the liver⁷⁹. UGT2B7 metabolizes morphine in the liver and has a high affinity for OCT 1, so gene variants affecting *SLC22A1* may impact the metabolism of morphine⁸⁰. The most frequently studied polymorphisms of the *SLC22A1* gene relate to a loss of function in the OCT1 transporter. In one study, carriers of the loss-of-function *OCT1* polymorphism possessed significantly higher plasma concentrations of morphine than those that did not carry the variant⁸¹. In children, the clearance of morphine was significantly lower in homozygote carriers of *OCT1* loss-of-function variants⁸².

The previous examples demonstrate how SNPs in critical genes can influence opioid pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. Through research, we can gain a greater understanding of genetic polymorphisms and the interaction between drugs. However,

the desired end-point for PGx is to apply it to patient care. In this way, PGx can be a valuable tool for hospice patients, their caregivers, and healthcare providers in opioid treatment.

1.8 Pharmacogenomics in Practice

The first hurdle to put clinical guidelines for opiates, opioid resistance, or any other drug is the link between genotype and phenotype. In PGx, accurate genotype-phenotype associations are critical to transitioning into clinical practice. The genotype is defined as the genetic variant of the gene of interest. Conversely, the phenotypes are typically linked to drug responses. These can include drug-induced toxicity, the efficacy of the drug, the concentration of the drug in the bloodstream, or the drug's impact on other biological markers within the body⁸³.

Pharmacogenomic tests in clinical laboratories are currently designed to detect a different genotype. Once this variant is detected, the variant is used to assign alleles. Then, informed assumptions are made about haplotypes. A haplotype is a set of alleles at different loci on a single chromosome⁸⁴. Haplotypes are typically inferred because most analytic methods can identify a variant genotype; they cannot ascertain each variant's chromosome position or locus. Instead of general testing, specialized testing is utilized to pinpoint the exact location where genetic variations are likely to occur⁸⁵. The alleles are then assembled as a diplotype (a maternal and paternal allele), and the phenotype is predicted based on previous studies⁸⁶. This can be rather complex in certain instances.

The genotype-phenotype relationship is clearly established for life-threatening or toxic variants. There is a gene called human leukocyte antigen (HLA) that has different variants. Some of these variants can cause dangerous reactions to certain drugs. Testing is

required to determine if a person has at least one of these variant alleles. *HLA-B*57:01* is a specific variant that is known to increase the risk of hypersensitivity to the drug abacavir. Only one allele is needed for a possibly life-threatening immune-mediated reaction to the drug⁸⁷.

Outside of these variants, risk becomes difficult to pinpoint. Furthermore, for synonymous SNPs, the phenotype may be complicated. Since synonymous SNPs do not directly change the produced gene product, their effect may lie elsewhere. To find genotype/phenotype relationships, research, literature, and clinical studies are needed. This also presents its own problems since there are variabilities in studies on defining a pharmacogenomic phenotype and agreeing on what that phenotype represents⁸⁸. Also, the wide variety of tests and methodologies has led to genotype-phenotype associations failing to be replicated. Clinical tests require standardization due to variations in nomenclature.

PharmGKB (http://www.pharmgkb.org) and the Pharmacogenomics Research Network (PGRN) collaborated to form the Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium (CPIC) in 2009. The CPIC provides guidelines for pharmacogenomic results in accurate prescribing decisions for certain drugs⁸⁹. The CPIC launched a project intending to standardize terminology across PGx. The project involved reaching a consensus among experts in pharmacogenetics. The objective was, whenever feasible, to agree on standardized terms that could be applied universally across genotypes to define both an allele's functional status and the inferred phenotypes based on the combined effects of both alleles⁸⁹. This has allowed for accurate translation into clinical practice.

In addition to the standardization of results allowing for accurate prescribing

information, the nomenclature has also been standardized. PGx uses the Human Genome Variation Society (HGVS) nomenclature. This naming system clarifies the genomic position of the variant as well as alterations to the DNA, RNA, and protein sequences⁹⁰.

In addition, there is the use of the star-allele system. This allows for the categorization of sequence variations easily. A *1 typically signifies the reference allele. As new variations are discovered, they are sequentially assigned numbered star alleles⁵⁵. An example of the naming system in practice is the *CYP2D6*4* allele and one of its variants, c.1847 G > A (rs3892097). In this case, *4 is the abbreviation for known *CYP2D6* alleles containing different variants. The location of the DNA change is represented by c.1847, the specific nucleotide shift would be G > A, and the variant name and unique location in the genome is represented by rs3892097.

1.9 Rationale

The purpose of this study partially stems from the gap in research concerning the PGx factors that influence the efficacy of opioid therapy in hospice patients. Opioids are the cornerstone of managing severe pain. However, their effectiveness varies widely among individuals. The effectiveness of opioid therapy is due partly to genetic variations. This study aims to discern PGx differences between hospice patients and opioid therapy.

Utilizing PGx will examine whether there are associations between SNPs in this population concerning opioid resistance. This study will be done by cross-referencing patient data with molecular genetic information. By doing so, this study seeks to discover unique SNPs that differ from previous studies and see if there is a relationship between SNPs and patient data. These research questions resulted in three hypotheses found below.

1.10 Hypotheses

- Molecular genetics data from hospice patients can be associated with patient medical information to identify potential SNPs influencing response to opioid medication.
- Potential genes linked with resistance to opioid medication can be uncovered by correlating molecular genetics data with pain measurements, opioid responsiveness, and treatment response.
- By identifying individual genetic variations that influence the response to opioid medication, clinicians can develop personalized painmanagement plans, potentially leading to improved quality of life and reduced side effects for patients in hospice and palliative care.

CHAPTER 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Instruments Used

The study employed the Palliative Performance Scale (PPS) as an evaluative tool to gauge both the functional status and prognosis of patients receiving palliative care. Initially introduced by Anderson et al.⁹¹, the PPS utilizes an 11-point scale ranging from 0% to 100% in increments of 10%. This scale examines four key parameters: ambulation, activity, evidence of disease, self-care, and level of consciousness (Figure 1). In this study, our focus was on patients having a PPS score of 30%. We chose this threshold because patients with this score. However, their functional impairment is significant, disease progression is evident, and they can still perform a limited number of daily activities with some assistance⁹¹. This score indicates relative functional stability, suggesting a prognosis that could extend for several weeks. We excluded patients with lower PPS scores from the study, as their functional status would be too unstable and their life expectancy too short to yield meaningful data.

A Numerical Rating Scale for Pain (NRS) was utilized to assess the average and maximum pain of study participants (Figure 2). The NRS is among the most common pain scale instruments used in hospice care⁹². This 11-point scale ranging from 0 ("no pain") to 10 ("worst possible pain) has demonstrated clinical utility in assessing changes in chronic pain intensity⁹³. Patients will be asked to grade their average and worst level of pain in the previous 24 hours (maximum pain) due to the primary diagnosis at the end of each visit.

The Numerical Opioid Side Effect (NOSE) Assessment Tool (Figure 3) was used to record common opioid side effects experienced by patients during the study⁹⁴. The

NOSE records the severity of 12 opioid side-effects on an 11-point scale from 0 ("not at all") to 10 ("extremely"). Total NOSE scores can range from 0 to 120, with higher scores indicating a more significant side effect burden.

In order to create a standard among opioid doses, morphine milligram equivalents (MME) were used. Patients use different opioids and different opioid dosing regimens, so it was necessary to standardize them. These conversion factors have been established by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). For example, 10 mg of hydrocodone is equivalent to 10 mg of morphine, while 30 mg of oxycodone is equivalent to 20 mg of morphine⁹⁵. By MME conversion, the total daily opioid doses for patients taking different opioid medications can be compared using a standardized metric (Figure 4).

2.2 Pharmacogenomic Analysis

Buccal swab samples were collected by Puritan DNA/RNA shield for sample collection and preservation from Puritan Medical Products (Guilford, ME). These were then sent to Admera Health (South Plainfield, NJ). Admera Health is certified under the Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments (CLIA) as qualified to perform high-complexity clinical laboratory testing. Admera Health utilized its PGxOneTM Plus assay, a next-generation sequencing panel that analyzes 50 pharmacogenomically relevant genes and 211 variants of those genes. These genes were chosen based on their availability at Admera, the researchers in the study as well as the Clinical Pharmacogenomics Implementation Consortium (CPIC) and Dutch Pharmacogenetics Working Group (DPWG), and the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) work group guidance. The report from Admera is comprised of three sections (Figures 5 and 6). The

first section reviews the pharmacogenomic implications for the patient's existing medications and their conditions. The conditions coded by the International Classification of Diseases, 10th Revision (ICD-10). The clinician provided the information about the patient's disease state and medication. Gene-drug interactions are organized alphabetically by drug name and categorized based on the potential impact on prescribing: consider alternatives, use with caution, and adjust dose/monitoring. The second section summarizes pharmacogenomic information for approximately 100 commonly used medications across therapeutic areas. Drugs are grouped by class and mechanism of action. Guidance is provided on gene-drug effects and recommended prescribing considerations. The final section is pure pharmacogenomic information. The clinical results page displays the patient's gene, genotype as well as phenotype. The full gene list, along with phenotypes and genotypes, that were analyzed is available in Appendices 1.

2.3 Ethics and Regulatory

This study was submitted to the Institutional Review Board (IRB) under protocol #18113-01. This study adhered to ethical principles outlined in the Declaration of Helsinki and complied with the guidelines for Good Clinical Practice from the International Conference on Harmonization (ICH/GCP). All applicable regulatory requirements related to human subject research will be followed.

All patients were provided with written informed consent prior to study participation following ethical principles. Principal investigators ensured patients were given comprehensive oral and written information about the study purpose, possible risks and benefits, and their rights as participants. Patients had opportunities to ask questions

and time to consider the information before providing signed and dated informed consent agreeing to take part. Principal investigators maintained all original signed consent forms per site procedures. The approved consent materials included descriptions of any incentives or provisions for patients potentially harmed by the study. Patients were notified that they could voluntarily discontinue their participation at any point. Informed consent procedures protected patient rights and adhered to ethical guidelines for human subject research.

In terms of risk, the main factor is the loss of privacy and confidentiality. Patient data will be used with the utmost care. Confidentiality was ensured through several measures. All computers required individual logins and full disk encryption, maintained by information technology (IT) staff. Servers storing study data were secured with routine backup procedures. Physical hard copies were stored in locked filing cabinets in secured rooms, only accessible to study personnel. Patient data was anonymized by using a unique numeric code for each patient. The code key was not stored on any computer or information network but in secure rooms. No individually identifiable information was contained in patient codes.

Due to the study population's expected deterioration, serious adverse events may occur (SAEs). These were defined as unexpected adverse outcomes such as hospitalizations, disability, or death that are not part of normal disease progression. Any SAEs assessed by clinicians potentially related to study procedures would be reported as Suspected Unexpected Serious Adverse Reactions (SUSARs) to oversight bodies. All adverse events were monitored, including undesirable symptoms or deteriorating conditions, regardless of causality. All unexpected and related adverse events were

documented in the participant's records and reviewed following research guidelines.

2.4 Study Design

Patients and clinicians were recruited from a single healthcare system to eliminate variability within healthcare systems and protocols.

Clinicians were eligible to be recruited for the study if they were physicians or nurse practitioners involved in practicing hospice and palliative care and were responsible for making and implementing decisions about opioid therapy for pain. Clinicians were identified by the investigators and were provided IRB-approved signed informed consent. The clinicians recruited for the study helped to identify potential candidates. The inclusion criteria for patients are indicated in Table 1, and the exclusion criteria are detailed in Table 2. There was no exclusion criteria for clinicians. They were recruited only if they met the inclusion criteria.

Research personnel themselves explained the study to patients who consented to receive information. Patients who consented to the study had three study visits. The first visit was a baseline visit. At the patient's baseline visit, eligibility and inclusion criteria were established. Patients identified as appropriate for the study and agreed to participate signed Informed Consent forms. Signing of consent forms was done prior to the completion of any study procedures. During the baseline visit, patients enrolled in the study completed a basic questionnaire and provided a cheek swab for pharmacogenomic analysis. Other data included recording the PPS score, NRS scale measurements, and a review of medications (opioid and non-opioid) were all recorded. The cheek swabs were shipped to Admera Health to undergo a PGxOne[™] Plus assay.

The turn-around for the PGxOne[™] Plus assay was available for review by the

investigator's clinical pharmacist 72 h after receiving a patient sample. The PGxOneTM report was sent to the patient's treatment team with suggested recommendations (based on pharmacogenomic analysis) between 24 - 48 h after review by the investigator's clinical pharmacist.

Visit two occurred between 5 and 14 days and was conducted either by phone or by an in-person clinic visit. Changes to medications were solely at the clinician's discretion and reviewed once more. During this evaluation, another NRS scale was given. The PPS score was only given once as recruitment criteria. Any adverse events that were present were collected and reviewed.

Visit 3 occurred on day 28, within a margin of +/- 7 days. This visit was to collect follow-up questions and re-evaluate pain therapy. Clinicians in charge of the patients could intervene or make any modifications during the study. A final NRS scale and a concluding NOSE scale were given to the patient. Medications and adverse events were given a final review. Patients were also given follow-up questionnaires about their emotional state and feelings, and pain therapy was re-evaluated. This final visit would conclude study participation.

2.5 Database Construction

In order to properly statistically analyze the data, all patient information was compiled in a database using Excel 2022 (Microsoft Software, Redmond, WA). This database was constructed using compiled anonymized data for 18 patients receiving hospice and palliative care. Variables extracted from medical records and rating instruments included: demographics (gender, age, ethnicity), clinical status (Palliative Performance Scale (PPS) score, primary/comorbid diagnoses, substance abuse disorders), and medications (opioids, non-opioid analgesics, other medications and morphine equivalent doses). Average and maximum pain were based on NRS measurements

provided by the patients during the three visits. In addition to patient records, pharmacogenomic data was compiled from each patient report provided by Admera Health.

Categorical variables were coded numerically in order to facilitate statistical analysis. For example, gender was coded as 1 = male and 2 = female. In total, about 61 variables across the categories of demographics, clinical status, medications, symptoms, pharmacogenomics, and other related factors. These variables were carefully selected to provide a comprehensive overview of the factors that might influence the efficacy of opioids. In addition to the compiled database, separate data sheets were created for each of the 50 genes analyzed over each of the 18 patients for a more straightforward analysis.

2.6 Statistical Analysis

Minitab® 20.4 (Pennsylvania State University, PA) was used to analyze the patient database statistically. The primary statistical model used in order to analyze the database was the General Linear Model (GLM). This is because the dataset is a combination of multiple types of variables. The model contains continuous variables (e.g., age, PPS scores) and coded categorical factors (e.g., disease codes, gender). This model also provides more statistical power to detect effects than ANOVA models⁹⁶. The GLM is also well-suited to handle group sizes that are not balanced, such as different variables having an uneven number of patients. The model also allows testing for interactions between variables (such as if the effect of a particular genotype differs by ethnicity). The F-value in the GLM evaluates which predictors are significantly associated with a variable. This allows the GLM to assess whether different predictors on a particular variable are statistically significant. This is paramount for determining which predictors are essential for understanding pain levels. Calculations of the regression equations used can be found in (Appendices 1).

Individual predictors with p-values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant. Tukey's HSD post hoc test was utilized when the GLM detected significant effects. F-value indicates the ratio of model improvement over error, with higher values indicating more variance explained by model predictors. F-values exceeding critical values based on the degrees of freedom provide evidence of an overall significant model beyond chance.

%	Ambulation	Activity and Evidence of Disease	Self-Care	Intake	Level of Conscious
00	Full	Normal activity, no evidence of disease	Full	Normal	Full
90	Full	Normal activity, some evidence of disease	Full	Normal	Full
80	Full	Normal activity with effort, some evidence of disease	Full	Normal or reduced	Full
70	Reduced	Unable to do normal work, some evidence of disease	Full	Normal or reduced	Full
50	Reduced	Unable to do hobby or some housework, significant disease	Occasional assist necessary	Normal or reduced	Full or confusion
50	Mainly sit/lie	Unable to do any work, extensive disease	Considerable assistance required	Normal or reduced	Full or confusion
40	Mainly in bed	Unable to do any work, extensive disease	Mainly assistance	Normal or reduced	Full, drowsy, or confusion
30	Totally bed bound	Unable to do any work, extensive disease	Total care	Reduced	Full, drowsy, or confusion
20	Totally bed bound	Unable to do any work, extensive disease	Total care	Minimal sips	Full, drowsy, or confusion
10	Totally bed bound	Unable to do any work, extensive disease	Total care	Mouth care only	Drowsy or coma
0	Death	_		_	_

Figure 1: Palliative Performance Scale. The 11-point Palliative Performance Scale (PPS) used to assess patient functional status and prognosis at baseline and throughout the study. Patients were required to have a PPS of at least 30% for study inclusion⁹⁷.
Patients will be asked to grade their average and worst level of pain in the previous 24 hours due to the primary diagnosis at the end of each day.

"Using a scale of "zero" to "ten", where zero equals no pain and ten equals the worst pain you can imagine, how would you rate the severity of pain, on average during the past 24 hours?

0___1__2_3_4__5_6_7_8_9__10 None Worst Possible Pain

"Using a scale of "zero" to "ten", where zero equals no pain and ten equals the worst pain you can imagine, how would you rate the severity of your pain at its worst during the past 24 hours?"

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 None

Worst Possible Pain

Figure 2: Numerical Rating Scale for Pain. The NRS was used to assess the pain of patients during visitations⁹³

		Not Pres	ent								As Bad Can Ir	as You nagine
		0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1.	Nausea, vomiting, and/or lack of appetite	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
2.	Fatigue, sleepiness, trouble concentrating, hallucinations, and/or drowsiness/somnolence	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
3.	Constipation	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
4.	Itching	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
5.	Decreased sexual desire/function an/or diminished libido	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
6.	Dry mouth	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
7.	Abdominal pain or discomfort/cramping or bloating	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
8.	Sweating	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
9.	Headache and/or dizziness	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
10.	Urinary retention	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Figure 3: Numerical Opioid Side Effect Scale. Patients completed the NOSE during required visits, rating the severity of the following side effects: nausea, vomiting, drowsiness, tiredness, dizziness, itching, constipation, dry mouth, headache, sleep problems, sweating, and confusion⁹⁴.

Calcula	ting Morphine Millig	ram Equiva	alents (MME)*
Opioid	Conversion Factor (convert to MMEs)	Duration (hours)	Dose Equivalent Morphine Sulfate (30mg)
Codeine	0.15	<mark>4-6</mark>	200 mg
Fentanyl (MCG/hr)	2.4		12.5 mcg/hr**
Hydrocodone	1	3-6	30 mg
Hydromorphone	4	4-5	7.5 mg
Morphine	1	3-6	30 mg
Oxycodone	1.5	4-6	20 mg
Oxymorphone	3	3-6	10 mg
Methadone [†]			
1-20 mg/d	4		7.5 mg
21-40 mg/d	8		3.75 mg
41-60 mg/d	10		3 mg
<u>≥61 mg/d</u>	12		2.5 mg

*The dose conversions listed above are an estimate and cannot account for an individual patient's genetics and pharmacokinetics.

**Fentanyl is dosed in mcg/hr instead of mg/day, and absorption is affected by heat and other factors.

†Methadone conversion factors increase with increasing dose.

Figure 4: Dose Conversion Table for MME. This is the conversion methodology used to convert various opioid doses into MME. It is in accordance with the CDC guidelines of 2016^{95} .

adm	era hcalth			Adm 126 Corporate Blvd +1-908-222-0533 · db	entcare@admerahealth.com
II. Compression 11. Compressio	ehensive Drug List for 2			🔆 PG	xOne"Plu
Therapeutic	Drug Impacted	Evidence	e Clinical Interpretation	Gene/Genotype	Phenotype
Anesthesiology	General Anesthetics:	Level			
	Ketamine (Ketalar®) Propofol (Diprivan®)	4	NORMAL RESPONSE EXPECTED	CYP2B6 *1/*1	Wild Type
Anesthesiology	Local Anesthetics:				
	Lidocaine/Prilocaine (Emla®)	•	NORMAL RESPONSE EXPECTED	G6PD WT/WT	Normal G6PD Efficienc
Anesthesiology	Local Apesthetics:				
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	Lidocaine (Lidoderm®)	0	NORMAL RESPONSE	CYP1A2	High Inducibility
Anesthesiology	Ropivacaine (Naropin®)	0	EXPECTED	*1F/*1F	Metabolizer
Anesthesiology	Sedatives:				
Anesthesiology	Dexmedetomidine (Precedex®)	•	NORMAL DOSE may have an increased sedative response	ADRA2A c1252G>C/c 1252G>C	rs1800544 CC genotype/rs1800545 GC genotype
Cardiology	ACE Inhibitors:				
	Captopril (Capoten®)	•	USE CAUTION	AGTR1	rs5186 AC genotype
			due to increased major cardiovascular events rate	WT/c.*86A>C	
Cardiology	ACE Inhibitors:				
	Benazepril (Lotensin®)	4	USE CAUTION	ACE	Heterozygous ACE
	Perindopril (Aceon®)	•	due to reduced response	WT/ACE Insertion	Insertion
Cardiology	ACE Inhibitors:				
	Quinapril (Accupril®)	4	NORMAL RESPONSE EXPECTED	ACE WT/ACE Insertion	Heterozygous ACE Insertion
Cardiology	Angiotensin II Receptor Bloc	kers:			
	Candesartan (Atacand®)	4	USE CAUTION due to reduced response	AGTR1 WT/c.*86A>C	rs5186 AC genotype

 PGxOneTM Plus Report for N86, 242
 Laboratory Director: Dr. James Demody CLIS ID: 0005763 CLIA ID: 3102038676 PFI ID: 8872
 Page 5 of 32

 Figure 5: Patient Pharmacogenomic Report. An example of a patient's pharmacogenomic report. The patient's name is coded as a number to protect their privacy.
 Page 5 of 32

Admera Health, LLC Tas Capacitades Luck No X88 +1986-222-853 - <u>clastoredistrimedivation</u> Admera	Admera Health, L 146 Capitals Bite - South Flatt off, NJ +1004-222-023 - alenticateQuarterchealt
Results Results Gono Gonotype	s Phonolypo
F5 WT/WT	Non Factor V Leiden Carrier
Phenotype FAAH WT/WT	rs324420 CC ganolype
2032582 AC genotype/rs1045642 AA genotype G6PD WT/WT	Normal G6PD Efficiency
eterozygous ACE Insertion GRIK4 WT/WT	rs 1954787 T Allele Carrier
1800544 CC genotype/rs1800545 GG genotype GSTP1 WT/WT	rs1695 AA genotype
5186 AC genotype HLA-B WT/WT	Wid Type
HTR1A WT/c1019G>C	rs6295 non-CC genctype/rs1800044 C Allele Carrier
on E2 Carrier HTR2A WT/c.614-2211T>C	rs7957012 rich-GG genotype
11212617 AC genotype HTR2C 2.551-3008C>G/c.5 3008C>G	51- rs1414334 G Allele Carrier
532545 C Allele IFNL3 39738787C>T/3974	43165T>G Unfavorable Response Genotype
71647871 C Allele ITPA WT/c.94C>A	rs1127354 A Allele Carner
806368 TT genotype KIF6 W1/W1	rs20455 AA genotype
on MET Homozygous MTHER WT/A1298C	A1298C Heterozygous Mutation
gh Inducibility Metabolizer NAT2 15/16/12/13	Slow Acetylator
lid Type c.106-38510G>T/c.	178- rs10494366 GT genotype/rs10800397 T Allele
ormal Metabolizer 20044C>T/c.178-13	3122C>T Carrier/rs10919035 T Allele Carrier
NQO1 WT/WT	rs1800566 non-AA genotype
ormal Metabolizer OPRM1 WT/WT	rs1799971 A Allele Carriedrs510679 TT genotype
ormal Metabolizer SCN2A WT/WT	rs2304016 non-GG genotype
ormal Metabolizer SLCBA4 S/LA	HTTLPR Long Form
spresser SLC01B1 71/1	Normal Activity
ormal Metabolizer TPMT 21/1	Normal Metabolizer
ormal Metabolizer UGT1A1 *1/*28	Heterozygous *28 Allele Carrier
4532 non-CC genotype UGT2B15 11/1	rs1902023 AA genotype
1799978 TT genotype VKORC1 WT/-1639G>A	rs9923231 A Allele Carrier
3212986 C Allele Carrier/rs11615 non-AA XRCC1 c.1196A>G/c.1196/ endtype/rs735482 AA genotype	4>G rs25487 C Allele Carrier
ild Type	

Figure 6: Patient Report for All Genes. An example of a patient's pharmacogenomic report. The patient's name is coded as a number to protect their privacy. It shows their genotype and phenotype combination for target genes,

Criteria	Description
Age	18 years of age or older
PPS	$PPS \ge 30\%$ (see Appendix I)
Residence	Reside in the community or the inpatient residence
Serious chronic illness	Have >1 serious chronic illness
Life-expectancy	Have an assessed life-expectancy of at least 4 weeks
History of pain	Have a history of pain
Opioid medication	Have been taking prescribed opioid medication with a regimen that provides a minimum dose of 20 mg morphine or equivalent per day in scheduled doses for at least one week prior to recruitment
Opioid therapy	Is expected to continue opioid therapy for the duration of study participation
Informed consent	Able to read, understand, and provide Informed Consent to participate

Table 1: Inclusion Criteria

	Lable 2: Patient Exclusion Criteria
Criteria	Description
Pregnancy/nursing PPS score	Pregnant, trying to conceive, or nursing. Women of childbearing potential must use reliable contraception. < 30%
Investigational agents Substance use	Taken any within the past 30 days Current illicit substance use
Site Staff	Immediate family or staff unless IRB approved
Medical conditions	Any that could prohibit study completion per investigator

. ¢ E £ Ę

CHAPTER 3. RESULTS

3.1 Demographic Data

Our patient sample was composed of 18 patients, with 38.89% (n=7) female and 61.11% (n=11) male participants (Table 3). In the present study, the patient pool comprised a diverse ethnic background, including 27.78% African American (n=5), 5.56% Asian (n=1), 27.78% Hispanic (n=5), and 38.89% Caucasian (n=7) hospice and palliative care patients. The age of the participants spanned a wide range, from 37 to 84 years, with a modal age of 64 years, constituting 27.78% of the sample (n=5).

Furthermore, addiction and substance abuse factors were also evaluated: 55.56% of the participants were smokers (n=10), and 38.89% had a documented history of substance abuse disorder. Our study involved patients diagnosed with multiple chronic and terminal conditions. These included alcoholic liver cirrhosis, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), several conditions co-morbid with HIV, end-stage congestive heart failure (CHF), fibrosis of the lung, and multiple types of cancer (Table 4). The most common medical condition among the participants was COPD at 27.78% (n=5).

Patients recruited for the study were on at least one opioid, which included morphine, oxycodone, tramadol, fentanyl, hydromorphone, and methadone. In order to equalize the amounts of morphine used per patient, a calculated morphine dose was used based on CDC guidelines. The calculated morphine doses showed a wide variation across the sample, from 20 mg at 5.56% (n=1) up to 540 mg at 11.11% (n=2), indicating the differential opioid response and tolerance among the participants (Table 5).

3.2 Descriptive Statistics

For this study, descriptive statistics were analyzed for basic demographics, the main

variables (average pain, maximum pain, calculated morphine dose, and PPS%), opioid side effects, and drug interactions. These were conducted in addition to regression analysis and the GLM.

3.2.1 Descriptive Statistics of Demographics

Gender was coded with 1 and 2 (1= male, 2= female). The mean was 1.389 with a standard error (SE) of 0.118. The standard deviation (SD) of 0.502 indicates a near-even distribution of male and female participants in the study. The age range of patients was 37 to 84 years, with a mean age of 63 years (SE=3.02), a median age of 64 years, and an SD of 12.79 years. Most of the study participants were older adults, with the age distribution being slightly negatively skewed, indicating a relatively uniform age distribution with fewer outliers. Ethnicity was coded from 1 to 4 (1 = Caucasian, 2 = Hispanic, 3 = African American, 4 = Asian). While skewness and kurtosis were calculated (0.43 and -0.96, respectively), these measures are generally more interpretable for continuous variables and may not provide meaningful insights into the distribution of categorical variables such as ethnicity.

Due to the patients having multiple chronic conditions, a primary disease state was assigned to each of the 18 study participants based on the organ affected or whether it was cancer. They were coded as follows: 1 = disease of the lung, 2 = cancer (any type), 3= disease of the heart, and 4 = liver disease. Cancer was indicated as the primary disease if any conditions were co-morbid with cancer. The mean value for the primary disease code was close to cancer at 1.889 (SE=0.227). Given that each disease was coded from 1 to 4, this mean value indicates that most patients fell within the first two categories (lung disease and cancer). The distribution of diseases was slightly skewed to the right at 1.13,

suggesting that a more significant proportion of patients in the sample had diagnoses coded lower (i.e., lung disease and cancer). However, there were still substantial numbers of patients with heart disease and Liver Disease, as shown by the range and the median value of 2 (which lies between Cancer and Heart Disease). The kurtosis value of 0.83 indicates a slightly more peaked and heavy-tailed distribution than a normal distribution. This value suggests that there are more frequent extreme deviations from the mean in our dataset, which could imply a higher likelihood of observing certain diseases over others in our sample.

3.2.2 Descriptive Statistics of Main Variables

The mean Palliative Performance Scale (PPS) score was 42.22 (SE = 1.73), with scores ranging from 30 to 60 (Table 6). This wide range underscores the heterogeneity in patient conditions within hospice and palliative care settings. The distribution of these scores was slightly right-skewed (skewness = 0.63), suggesting a tendency towards PPS scores. Furthermore, the mean square successive difference (MSSD) of 35.29 indicates substantial variability in patient conditions throughout the study.

Regarding pain management, the mean average pain score was 5.83 (SE = 0.513), with a standard deviation of 2.176. This moderate spread in pain scores across the study population implies varying levels of pain intensity among participants. Moreover, the mean for maximum reported pain scores were significantly higher at 7.66 (SE = 0.577), highlighting that patients often experience acute episodes of severe pain that exceed their average levels.

In our sample, MME was 187.7, with a considerable standard deviation of 194.8, emphasizing the high variability in dosing among participants. This was further highlighted by the broad range of MMEs, which ranged from 20 to 540 mg. The skewness of 1.9 and a significant mean square successive difference (MSSD) of 45,216.6 indicate a tendency toward higher dosages, with several outliers and significant fluctuations between different MME values.

3.2.3 Descriptive Statistics for Opioid Side Effects

The evaluation of opioid side effects was measured using the NOSE scale for patients (Table 7). Contrary to conventional wisdom that nausea is a common adverse effect of opioid use, our findings suggest otherwise. Most patients reported no nausea; the mean score was relatively low at 2.167. The data exhibited positive skewness and a high level of kurtosis, indicating that extreme nausea cases were rare but existed.

Fatigue, with a mean score of 2.778, appeared less of a problem for a substantial portion of the patient sample, as evidenced by a median and mode of zero. The negative kurtosis suggests that extreme fatigue is even less common, corroborating the general low-to-moderate impact of this side effect.

However, constipation and dry mouth were the most severe side effects. The former had a high mean score of 4.222 with considerable variance, while the latter's mean score was an even higher 4.778. Both side effects showed significant inter-individual variability, stressing the need for personalized intervention strategies.

Itching and abdominal pain were generally moderate but displayed high interindividual variability, as evidenced by their standard deviations. In contrast, sweating was the least frequently reported side effect, with the highest score only reaching 5 out of 10 on the NOSE scale. This suggests that sweating may be of lesser concern in this patient population.

Headaches and urinary retention presented with wide dispersion from their means, suggesting that while these side effects are not universally experienced, they can be severe when they do occur.

The standard deviations and skewness of side-effect profiles point to high interindividual variability, while the mean scores indicate which side effects are most pressing on a population level. This suggests that while nausea and fatigue may not be as significant as traditionally believed, attention should be given to constipation and dry mouth, among others, for targeted interventions.

3.2.4 Descriptive Statistics for Medication Interactions

In addition to side effects, demographics, and main variables, drug-drug interactions and drug-opioid interactions were analyzed (Table 8). On average, there were less than 1 (0.889) possible drug interactions per participant, with a standard deviation of 1.132, indicating variability in this measure. MSSD was 1.353, demonstrating the variability of possible drug interactions across subjects or over time.

Further, the average number of severe drug interactions was significantly lower at 0.278 per participant. The skewness of 1.08 and a negative kurtosis of -0.94 suggest that most participants had no severe drug interactions. The average number of drugs that did not interact was around 2.667 per participant, with a SD of 1.328.

This showed a considerable spread. There was a slight negative skewness and kurtosis, indicating the distribution was slightly skewed to the left, indicating fewer extreme values. The average number of drug interactions affection opioids was around 1 per participant. A high skewness of 1.86 and high kurtosis of 4.29 show that many study participants had few interactions.

Lastly, the study's total number of drugs per patient averaged more than 3 per participant. While this may seem small, consideration must be taken that the majority of patients were for end-of-life-care, which prioritizes quality of life and treatment is generally ceased. There was an SD of 1.689, which shows a large variability in this measurement. For patients, the total number of drugs presented with a low skewness of 0.2 and kurtosis of 0.42, suggesting a symmetrical distribution similar to a normal distribution.

3.3 Non-Genomic Statistical Analysis

The four main variables of interest (average pain, maximum pain, MME, and PPS%) were compared to demographic variables. Ethnicity, gender, substance abuse, smoking, and disease state were not significant to any of the four main variables. However, age was correlated with morphine dose (Table 9). A simple linear regression was conducted to discover the relationship between age and the MME (Figure 7). This indicates that the calculated MME decreases by approximately 8.20 mg for each additional year of age.

This finding is statistically significant but accounts for only 25% of the dose variability when adjusted for model complexity, thereby indicating that while age is a notable factor in morphine dosing, it does not fully account for the variation in dosing. Age significantly predicted morphine dose (F(1,16) = 6.54, p = 0.021). Age explained 29.01% of the variance in MME dosing (R-squared = .29). The adjusted R-squared of .246 indicates that approximately 25% of the variance in dose can be accounted for by age after adjusting for model complexity.

In terms of opioid-related side effects, demographics were analyzed, and it was found that gender, ethnicity, and age had several significant associations (Table 10). The table

includes effects of factors like gender, ethnicity, and age on various side effects such as constipation, dry mouth, abdominal pain, urinary retention, sweating, and itching.

The statistical analysis of patient data revealed intricate relationships between demographic variables and the morphine dose and its associated side effects. While variables like ethnicity, gender, substance abuse, smoking, and disease state showed no significant impact on morphine dose, they manifest associations with various side effects.

Gender significantly influenced the incidence of constipation, dry mouth, abdominal pain, and urinary retention, accounting for approximately 30-36% of their variability. The association between gender and these side effects raises the possibility that the pharmacodynamics of morphine may vary between genders, suggesting a need for gender-specific guidelines in managing these side effects.

Age demonstrated a strong relationship between the incidence of itching and sweating. This relationship explained more than 90% of their variability. It is uncommon to find high R-squared values in clinical studies. While it can indicate a strong correlation, it may also indicate overfitting of the model.

Unexpectedly, the MME had no significant influence over any of the expected side effects. The lack of association is notable because conventional wisdom would make one expect higher doses to have more severe or frequent side effects (Table 11). The lack of association between MME and side effects suggests other variables influence them, such as PGx related to opioid resistance or pharmacokinetic factors.

3.4 Genomic Statistical Analysis

Of the 50 genes analyzed, 24 demonstrated statistically significant associations across key variables (average pain, maximum pain, PPS%, and MME) and opioid side effects.

These associations did not extend to age, drug interactions, or gender. The genomic influence was primarily on pain perception and opioid response. However, one gene, IFNL3, emerged as significant concerning ethnicity (Table 12).

The GLM for the African American population was particularly strong, accounting for half the observed variance (48.08% R-sq) in the Favorable and Unfavorable response genotypes. The model was statistically significant (F(1,6)=14.81, p=0.001). The positive coefficient for the Unfavorable Response Genotype implies that African Americans are likelier to exhibit this genotype.

In contrast, the model was statistically significant for the Caucasian population, but the lower percentage of the variance (23.44% R-sq), with an F-value of 4.90 and a pvalue of 0.042. The coefficient for the unfavorable response genotype was negative, suggesting Caucasians are less likely to possess this phenotype.

It is worth noting that these findings align with previous research on ethnic distribution of the IFNL3 genotype⁹⁸. This lends additional weight to our results and underscores the necessity for targeted, ethnicity-based approaches in PGx studies.

3.4.1 Average Pain

Regarding average pain, statistical significance was discovered across four genes: *AGTR1, HTR2A, SLCO1B1, and UGT2B15* (Table 13).

For *AGTR1*, we examined two variables: genotype (wild type WT/c.*86A>C and WT/WT) and phenotype (rs5186 AA genotype and rs5186 AC genotype). The GLM significantly affected genotype and phenotype (F(1,16)=8.96, p=0.009). These models explained about 36% of the variability in average pain levels with R-squared adj = 31.89%. Those with the WT/c.*86A>C and the SNP rs5186 AC reported higher average

pain levels than the WT/WT group.

In *HTR2A*, our GLM with three genotypes (c.614-2211T>C/c.614-2211T>C, WT/c.614-2211T>C, WT/WT) showed a significant effect of genotype on average pain (F(2,15)=4.24, p=0.035). This model accounted for about 28% of the variability in average pain levels. This results in the genotype WT/c.614-2211T>C being associated with a decrease in average pain compared to the wild type.

For *SLCO1B1*, the model demonstrated a significant effect of both genotype (*1/*1, *1/*5) and phenotype (Intermediate Activity, Normal Activity) on average pain levels (F(1,16)=4.69, p=0.046). The models explained that about 18% of the variability in average pain levels through an adjusted R-squared was 17.82%. In terms of genotype, this indicates that individuals with the *1/*1 genotype have a slight increase in pain over those with the *1/*5 genotype. For phenotype, it means that the intermediate activity phenotype will have a slightly lower average pain score when compared to the normal activity phenotype.

Lastly, in *UGT2B15*, we detected a significant effect of genotype (*1/*1, *1/*2, *2/*2) (F(2,15)=5.19, p=0.019) and phenotype (rs1902023 AA genotype, rs1902023 non- AA genotype) (F(1,16)=9.52, p=0.007) on average pain levels. These models explained about 33% and 33.39% of the variability in pain, respectively, through the adjusted R-squared. This means that the presence of the *1/*1 genotype is associated with an increase in average pain. In contrast, the presence of the *1/*2 genotype is associated with a decrease in average pain, and the 2*/2* genotype is associated with a slight decrease in pain. For phenotype, individuals with the AA genotype have a higher than average pain score, while individuals with the non-AA genotype have a lower

average pain score. The effect of these genes on average pain is summarized in Table 14.

3.4.2 Maximum Pain

For maximum pain, there was a significant association between several genes. These include: *COMT*, *CYP1A2*, *CYP2B6*, *DRD1*, *FAAH*, *MTHFR* and *SLCO1B1* (Table 15). For COMT, the GLM revealed significance in maximum pain on phenotype (F(1,16) = 4.96, p = 0.041). This model explained around 23.67% of the variance in maximum pain due to its R-squared value. Non-MET homozygous individuals had higher maximum pain scores by around 2.79 points on average.

Regarding *CYP1A2*, the GLM demonstrated that genotype significantly affected maximum pain (F(4,13) = 8.37, p = 0.001), with R-squared showing 72.03% of the variance on maximum pain. The different genotypes had varying influences on pain, with the *1A/*1F, *1C/*1F/*1F, and *1F/*1F genotypes increasing pain scores. In this case, the *1A allele represents the wildtype allele. *1C and *1F are variant alleles that can affect pharmacodynamics. Regarding phenotype, significance was found (F(1, 16) = 5.19, p = 0.037), with the model explaining 24.51% of the variance in maximum pain. The normal metabolizer group reported lower maximum pain than the high inducibility metabolizer group.

CYP2B6 was analyzed both on the level of genotype and phenotype. There was a significant difference in the max pain scores across the four genotypes (F(3,14)=3.36, p=0.050). The regression model explained 41.83% of the variance in the max pain scores, with an adjusted R-squared of 29.37%. For specific genotypes, patients with the A785G/A785G/G516T genotype experienced significantly less pain compared to those with the *1/*1 genotype. Conversely, those with the A785G/A785G/G516T/G516T

genotype experienced more pain than the Wild Type. In phenotypic analysis, there was a significant difference in max pain scores across phenotypes (F(3,14)=3.36, p=0.050). The GLM accounted for 41.83% of the variance in max pain scores based on the R-squared value. The G516T Heterozygous/A785G Homozygous genotype scored 4 points lower on maximum pain scores. The G516T Homozygous/A785G Homozygous variable had on average 3 points higher on maximum pain than the wild type. Conversely, individuals with the 'G516T Homozygous/A785G Homozygous' genotype had on average 3 points higher on maximum pain to individuals with the 'G516T Homozygous/A785G Homozygous' genotype had on average 3 points higher to individuals with the 'G516T Homozygous/A785G Homozygous' genotype had on average 3 points higher maximum pain scores compared to individuals with the Wild Type.

DRD1 showed significance in both genotype and phenotype concerning the maximum pain score. For genotype, it was significant (F(2,15)=4.48, p=0.030), with the model accounting for 37.37% of variance based on the R-squared. Compared to the c.-48G>A/c.-48G>A genotype, the WT/WT genotype showed lower maximum pain scores. In terms of phenotype, it significantly affected maximum pain (F(1,16) = 8.00, p = 0.012). The results indicated that the phenotype accounted for approximately 33.33% of the variation in max pain, with an adjusted R-squared value of 29.17%. The rs4532 non-CC genotype was associated with significantly higher maximum pain than the rs4532 CC genotype.

The *FAAH* genotype on maximum pain scores was significant (F(2,15)=4.12, p=0.037), with the model accounting for 35.48% of variance based on the R-squared. Compared to the c.385C>A/c.385C>A genotype, the WT/c.385C>A and WT/WT genotypes showed higher maximum pain overall. The phenotype was also significant (F(2,15)=4.12, p=0.037). The rs324420 CA and CC genotypes had higher maximum pain than the rs324420 AA genotype. The R-squared for the phenotypic analysis was the same as for the genotype.

The GLM utilized for *MTHFR* indicated significance in both genotype and phenotype. In terms of genotype, there was significance found across the genotypes studied (F(5,12)=4.33, p=0.017). The model accounted for 64.35% of the variance, but that was lowered with an adjusted R-squared of 49.49%. Compared to the A1298C/A1298C genotype, the C677T/A1298C genotype was associated with lower max pain scores. No other genotypes differed significantly other than these. Regarding phenotype, the significance was the same as those in the genotype, along with the adjusted R-squared value. The C677T Heterozygous Mutation/A1298C Heterozygous Mutation phenotype was associated with lower maximum pain scores.

Lastly, the genotypes and phenotypes for the gene *SLCO1B1* were significant with maximum pain. Significance in the genotype was found (F(1,16) = 5.64, p=0.030). The model accounted for 26.08% of the variance in pain based on the R-squared value. Compared to the *1/*1 genotype, the *1/*5 genotype showed significantly lower maximum pain. The phenotype and the same R-squared value showed identical significance as the genotype model. The normal activity group reported higher maximum pain scores for phenotype than the intermediate activity group. The table summarizing genomic effects on maximum pain scores is in Table 16.

3.4.3 Morphine Milligram Equivalents

Three genes explicitly showed a relationship with MME dosages. These were *CDA*, *CNR1*, and *CYP1A2* (Table 17). All were analyzed through the GLM. *CDA* showed a statistically significant association between phenotype and the calculated morphine dosage (F(1,16)=5.32, p=0.035). The adjusted sum of squares (Adj SS) for the phenotype

was 160839, indicating that the *CDA* phenotype could explain a substantial proportion of the variance in morphine dosage. The model accounted for 24.94% of the variance in the calculated morphine dosage (R-squared=24.94%). Upon adjusting for the number of predictors, this value slightly decreased to 20.24% (R- squared adjusted=20.24%). The rs532545 C Allele was associated with an increase in the calculated morphine dose by 94.5 mg (p=0.035) relative to the rs532545 T Allele.

In *CNR1*, there was statistical significance between phenotypes (F(1,16) = 5.61, p= 0.031). The model accounted for approximately 25.98% of the variation in the calculated morphine based on the R-squared. The rs806368 non-TT genotype was associated with a decrease in the calculated morphine dosage by 102.3 mg (p = 0.031) compared to the rs806368 TT genotype.

Lastly, CYP1A2 showed significance in the phenotype on the calculated morphine dose (F(1,16) = 4.68, p = 0.046). The model accounted for 22.61% of the variance in the calculated morphine dosage (R-squared = 22.61%). The high-inducibility metabolizer phenotype was associated with a 95.5-mg reduction in the calculated morphine dose (p = 0.046) compared to normal metabolizers. The genomic effects of these three genes on MME are detailed in Table 18.

3.4.4 Palliative Performance Scale

In terms of PPS, the GLM demonstrated that several genes showed significance in this area. These were *CYP4F2*, *HLA-B*, *NOS1AP*, and *UGT2B15* (Table 19). Only *CYP4F2* and *HLA*-B were significant in terms of both genotype and phenotype. Table 20 summarizes the association between genomic data and PPS% in its entirety.

For CYP4F2, in terms of genotype, a significant association was found between

them (F(2,15) = 4.56, p = 0.028). The R-squared showed that this model could explain 37.80% of the variance in PPS. Regarding specific genotypes, *1/*1 and *1/*3 genotypes associated with lower PPS% compared to the *3/*3 genotype. Regarding phenotype, the GLM also indicated significance (F(2,15) = 4.56, p = 0.028). Poor metabolizers showed a higher PPS% than those with other phenotypes.

In *HLA-B*, genotype, and phenotype exhibited the same significance (F(2,15) = 6.17, p = 0.011). The R-squared explains 45.12% of the variance in the GLM. However, the model was not robust enough to indicate specific phenotypes and genotypes and their association with PPS%. *NOS1AP* was the most complex model, with seven phenotypes. It was significant overall (F(6,11) = 3.73, p = 0.028), with the R-squared value explaining 67.07% of the variance in PPS%. Despite the many phenotypes analyzed, the only one significantly associated with PPS% was the rs10494366 TT genotype/rs10800397 T Allele Carrier/rs10919035 T Allele Carrier.

Lastly, the *UGT2B15* genotype was significantly associated with PPS% (F(2,15)= 6.64, p = 0.009), explaining 46.95% of the variance based on the R-squared. The *1/*2 genotype was associated with a significantly higher PPS% compared to the *1/*1 genotype.

Gender	Count	Percentage	Age	Count	Percentage	Ethnicity	Count	t Percentage
F	7	38.89%	37	1	5.56%	African American	5	27.78%
Μ	11	61.11%	46	1	5.56%	Asian	1	5.56%
			50	2	11.11%	Hispanic	5	27.78%
			54	1	5.56%	Caucasian	7	38.89%
			55	1	5.56%			
			60	1	5.56%			
			64	5	27.78%			
			68	1	5.56%			
			75	1	5.56%			
			77	1	5.56%			
			78	1	5.56%			
			80	1	5.56%			
			84	1	5.56%			
N =	18	100%	N =	18	100%	N =	18	100%

Table 3: Patient Demographics

Original Condition	Count	Percent
Alcoholic Liver Cirrhosis	1	5.56%
Cervical Cancer	1	5.56%
Colon Cancer	2	11.11%
COPD	5	27.78%
COPD/HIV	1	5.56%
End stage CHF	1	5.56%
Hepatitis C/Fibrosis of Lung	1	5.56%
Hepatitis C/HIV	1	5.56%
Lung Cancer	2	11.11%
Metastatic Adenocarcinoma of the Tongue	1	5.56%
Pancreatic Cancer	1	5.56%
Prostate Cancer	1	5.56%
N =	18	100%

Table 4: Chronic Conditions in Cohort

MME (mg)	Patients	Percent
20	1	5.56%
30	3	16.67%
37.5	1	5.56%
60	1	5.56%
75	1	5.56%
91	1	5.56%
115	1	5.56%
120	2	11.11%
135	1	5.56%
180	1	5.56%
225	1	5.56%
505	1	5.56%
525	1	5.56%
540	2	11.11%
N=	18	100%

Table 5: Morphine Milligram Equivalents

Morphine milligram equivalents were calculated using Figure 4

				-							
Variable	Mean	SEM	StDev	Var	SS	Min	Max	Med	Range	Mode	MSSD
PPS%	42.22	1.73	7.32	53.59	33000	30	60	40	30	40	35.29
Av.Pain	5.83	0.51	2.18	4.74	693	2	10	6	8	5, 6, 7	4.94
Max pain	7.67	0.58	2.45	6	1160	2	10	8	8	8	6.94
MME	187.70	45.90	194.80	37942	1279	20	540	117.5	520	30	45217

 Table 6: Descriptive Statistics – Main Variables

PPS% = palliative performance scale as percentage, MME = morphine milligram equivalents in mg, SEM = standard error of the mean, StDev = standard deviation, var = variance, SS = sum of squares, Med = median, MSSD = mean of the squared successive differences

 Table 7: Descriptive Statistics – Opioid Side Effects

Variable	Mean	SEM	StDev	Var	SS	Min	Max	Med	Rng	Mode	MSSD
Nausea	2.17	0.72	3.07	9.44	245	0	10	1	10	0	12.97
Fatigue	2.78	0.65	2.76	7.60	268	0	9	2	9	0	8.21
Constipation	4.22	0.87	3.69	13.60	552	0	10	3.5	10	1	11.06
Itching	2.00	0.76	3.22	10.35	248	0	10	1	10	0	9.12
Dry mouth	4.78	0.95	4.04	16.30	688	0	10	5	10	0	11.59
Abd. Pain	3.39	0.88	3.74	14.02	445	0	10	2	10	0	9.82
Sweating	1.11	0.38	1.61	2.58	66	0	5	1	5	0	2.53
Headache	2.94	0.84	3.57	12.76	373	0	10	1	10	0	15.59
Urine Retention	3.06	0.81	3.44	11.82	369	0	10	1	10	0	7.44

SEM = standard error of the mean, StDev = standard deviation, var = variance, SS = sum of squares, Med = median, Rng=Range, MSSD = mean of the squared successive differences

 Table 8: Descriptive Statistics – Medication Interactions

Variable	Mean	SEM	StDev	Var	SS	Min	Max	Rng	Mode	MSSD
Possible Interactions	0.89	0.27	1.13	1.28	36	0	4	4	0	1.35
Serious Interactions	0.28	0.11	0.46	0.21	5	0	1	1	0	0.27
Non-Interacting Drugs	2.67	0.31	1.33	1.77	158	0	5	5	3	1.56
Interactions with Opioids	1.11	0.30	1.28	1.63	50	0	5	5	1	1.74
Total Number of Drugs	3.17	0.40	1.69	2.85	229	0	7	7	4	2.06

SEM = standard error of the mean, StDev = standard deviation, Var = variance, Rng = range, SS = sum of squares, MSSD = mean of the squared successive differences

1										
Source	DF	SS	MS	F	Р					
Regression	1	187145	187145	6.74	0.021					
Error	16	457866	28617							
Total	17	645012								

Table 9: Regression Analysis – Age vs MME

DF = degrees of freedom, SS = sum of squares, MS = mean square, F = f-value, P = p value



Figure 7: Fitted Line Plot – Age vs. MME. The graph here shows the regression fitted line, which shows the negative relation between Age and Calculated Morphine Dose. The adjusted R-squared is 24.6% mean that this percent of variation in the dependent variable (Cal. Morphine Dose) is explained by the independent variable (Age)

Table 10: Significant Morphine Side Effects Based on Demographic Information

Variable	Factor	DF	Adj SS	Adj MS	F	Р	S	R^2	R ² (Adj)
Constipation	Gender	1	79.53	79.53	8.39	0.011	3.08	34.41%	30.31%
Dry mouth	Gender	1	89.40	89.40	7.62	0.014	3.43	32.26%	28.03%
Abd.pain	Gender	1	69.78	69.78	6.63	0.020	3.25	29.29%	24.87%
Urine Retention	Gender	1	72.50	72.50	9.03	0.008	2.83	36.08%	32.09%
Dry mouth	Ethnicity	3	139.90	46.62	4.75	0.017	3.13	50.47%	39.85%
Sweating	Age	12	42.08	3.51	10.31	0.009	0.58	96.12%	86.80%
Itching	Age	12	162.30	13.53	4.94	0.045	1.66	92.22%	73.53%

Table 11: MME vs. Opioid Side Effects

Variable	DF	Adj SS	Adj MS	F	Р	S	R^2	R^{2} (Adj)
Dry mouth	13	227.94	17.53	1.43	0.40	3.51	82.26%	24.59%
Abd. pain	13	164.28	12.64	0.68	0.73	4.30	68.94%	0.00%
Sweating	13	26.61	2.05	0.48	0.86	2.07	60.79%	0.00%
Nausea	13	107.33	8.26	0.62	0.77	3.65	66.87%	0.00%
Fatigue	13	93.94	7.23	0.82	0.65	2.97	72.76%	0.00%
Constipation	13	180.61	13.89	1.10	0.51	3.55	78.15%	7.13%

MME = morphine milligram equivalents, DF = degrees of freedom, Adj SS = adjusted sum of squares, Adj MS = adjusted mean square, F = f-value, P = p value, S = root mean square error, R^2 (Adj) = adjusted R^2

Ethnicity	DF	Adj SS	Adj MS	F	Р	S	\mathbb{R}^2	R^{2} (Adj)
Caucasian	1	1.00	1.00	4.90	0.042	0.45	23.44%	18.66%
African American	1	1.74	1.74	14.81	0.001	0.34	48.08%	44.83%

 Table 12: IFNL3 – Ethnicity and Phenotype

 Table 13:
 Average Pain vs. Genomic Data

Gene	Variable	DF	Adj SS	Adj MS	F	Р	S	R^2	R ² (Adj)
AGTR1	Genotype	1	28.90	28.90	8.96	0.009	1.80	35.90%	31.89%
AGTR1	Phenotype	1	28.90	28.90	8.96	0.009	1.80	35.90%	31.89%
HTR2A	Genotype	2	29.07	14.53	4.24	0.035	1.85	36.11%	27.59%
SLCO1B1	Genotype	1	18.24	18.24	4.69	0.046	1.97	22.66%	17.82%
SLCO1B1	Phenotype	1	18.24	18.24	4.69	0.046	1.97	22.66%	17.82%
UGT2B15	Genotype	2	32.92	16.46	5.19	0.019	1.78	40.89%	33.01%
UGT2B15	Phenotype	1	30.04	30.04	9.52	0.007	1.78	37.31%	33.39%

Gene	Factor	Polymorphism	Effect	Р
AGTR	Genotype	*WT/c.86A>C	+1.70	0.009
	Phenotype	rs5186 AA genotype	-1.70	0.009
HTR2A	Genotype	WT/c.614-2211T>C	-2.01	0.011
SLCO1B1	Genotype	*1/*1	+1.03	0.046
	Phenotype	Intermediate Activity	-1.03	0.046
UGT2B15	Genotype	*1/*1	+2.03	0.019
		*1/*2	-1.47	0.019
	Phenotype	rs1902023 AA genotype	+1.55	0.007

 Table 14: Average Pain Genomic Summary

The effect refers to the outcome derived from the statistical analysis and its impact on the baseline pain score. A negative result signifies a reduction in pain level due to the specific polymorphism, whereas a positive value indicates an elevation in pain score. The P-value shows the statistical significance of each effect.

 Table 15: Max Pain vs. Genomic Data

Gene	Factor	DF	Adj SS	Adj MS	F	Р	S	R^2	$R^{2}(Adj)$
COMT	Phenotype	1	24.14	24.14	4.96	0.041	2.21	23.67%	18.90%
CYP1A2	Genotype	4	73.47	18.37	8.37	0.001	1.48	72.03%	63.42%
CYP1A2	Phenotype	1	25.00	25.00	5.19	0.037	2.19	24.51%	19.79%
CYP2B6	Genotype	3	42.67	14.22	3.36	0.050	2.06	41.83%	29.37%
CYP2B6	Phenotype	3	42.67	14.22	3.36	0.050	2.06	41.83%	29.37%
DRD1	Genotype	2	38.12	19.06	4.48	0.030	2.06	37.37%	29.02%
DRD1	Phenotype	1	34.00	34.00	8.00	0.012	2.06	33.33%	29.17%
FAAH	Genotype	2	36.19	18.09	4.12	0.037	2.09	35.48%	26.87%
FAAH	Phenotype	2	36.19	18.09	4.12	0.037	2.09	35.48%	26.87%
MTHFR	Genotype	5	65.63	13.13	4.33	0.017	1.74	64.35%	49.49%
MTHFR	Phenotype	5	65.63	13.13	4.33	0.017	1.74	64.35%	49.49%
SLCO1B1	Genotype	1	26.60	26.60	5.64	0.030	2.17	26.08%	21.46%
SLCO1B1	Phenotype	1	26.60	26.60	5.64	0.030	2.17	26.08%	21.46%

Gene	Factor	Polymorphism	Effect	Р
COMT	Phenotype	MET Homozygous	-1.39	0.041
CYP1A2	Genotype	*1A/*1A	-2.75	0.004
		*1C/*1F/*1F	+1.65	0.027
	Phenotype	High Inducibility Metabolizer	+1.25	0.037
CYP2B6	Genotype	A785G/A785G/G516T	-4.00	0.026
		A785G/A785G/G516T/G516T	+3.00	0.029
	Phenotype	G516T Heterozygous/A785G Homozygous	-4.00	0.026
		G516T Homozygous/A785G Homozygous	+3.00	0.029
DRD1	Genotype	WT/c48G>A	+2.57	0.013
	Phenotype	rs4532 CC genotype	-3.00	0.012
FAAH	Genotype	c.385C>A/c.385C>A	-3.96	0.015
		WT/c.385C>A	+2.34	0.016
	Phenotype	rs324420 AA genotype	-3.96	0.015
		rs324420 CA genotype	+2.34	0.016
MTHFR	Genotype	C677T/A1298C	-4.99	0.001
	Phenotype	C677T Heterozygous Mutation/		
		A1298C Heterozygous Mutation	-4.99	0.001
SLCO1B	Genotype	*1/*1	+1.25	0.030
	Phenotype	Intermediate Activity	-1.25	0.030

 Table 16: Max Pain Genomic Summary

The effect refers to the outcome derived from the statistical analysis and its impact on the baseline pain score. A negative result signifies a reduction in pain level due to the specific polymorphism, whereas a positive value indicates an elevation in pain score. The P-value shows the statistical significance of each effect.
Table 17: Morphine Milligram Equivalents vs. Genomic Data

Gene	Factor	DF	Adj SS	Adj MS	F	Р	S	R^2	R ² (Adj)
CDA	Phenotype	1	162040	160839	5.32	0.035	173.96	24.94%	20.24%
CNR1	Phenotype	1	160839	167554	5.61	0.031	172.46	25.98%	21.35%
CYP1A2	Phenotype	1	162040	145860	4.68	0.046	176.63	22.61%	17.78%

DF = degrees of freedom, Adj SS = adjusted sum of squares, Adj MS = adjusted mean square, F = f-value, P = p value, S = root mean square error, R^2 (Adj) = adjusted R^2

 Table 18: Morphine Milligram Equivalents Genomic Summary

Gene	Factor	Polymorphism	Effect (mg)	Р
CDA	Phenotype	rs532545 C Allele	+94.50	0.035
CNR1	Phenotype	rs806368 non-TT genotype	-102.30	0.031
CYP1A2	Phenotype	High Inducibility Metabolizer	-95.48	0.046

The effect refers to the outcome derived from the statistical analysis and its impact on the calculated morphine dose. A negative result signifies an association with lower morphine levels due to the specific polymorphism, whereas a positive value indicates an elevation in the need for morphine. These are in milligram equivalents. The P-value shows the statistical significance of each effect.

Table 19: Palliative Performance Scale vs. Genomic Data

Gene	Factor	DF	Adj SS	Adj MS	F	Р	S	\mathbb{R}^2	R ² (Adj)
CYP4F2	Genotype	2	344.4	172.22	4.56	0.028	6.15	37.80%	29.51%
CYP4F2	Phenotype	2	344.4	172.22	4.56	0.028	6.15	37.80%	29.51%
HLA-B	Genotype	2	411.1	205.56	6.17	0.011	5.77	45.12%	37.80%
HLA-B	Phenotype	2	411.1	205.56	6.17	0.011	5.77	45.12%	37.80%
NOS1AP	Phenotype	6	611.1	101.85	3.73	0.028	5.22	67.07%	49.11%
UGT2B15	5 Genotype	2	427.8	213.89	6.64	0.009	5.68	46.95%	39.88%

DF = degrees of freedom, Adj SS = adjusted sum of squares, Adj MS = adjusted mean square, F = f-value, P = p value, S = root mean square error, R2 (Adj) = adjusted R2

Gene	Factor	Polymorphism	Effect	Р
CYP4F2	Genotype	*1/*1	-5.56	0.045
		*1/*3	-7.22	0.021
	Phenotype	Normal Metabolizer	-5.56	0.045
		Intermediate Metabolizer	-7.22	0.021
HLA-B	Genotype	WT/*5801	+8.33	0.016
	Phenotype	HLA-B*5801 Allele Carrier	+8.33	0.016
NOS1AP	Genotype	c.106-38510G>T/c.106-38510G>T/	+16.83	0.007
		c.178-20044C>T/c.178-13122C>T		
		c.178-20044C>T/c.178-13122C>T	-9.83	0.011
	Phenotype	rs10494366 GG genotype/	-10.24	0.006
		rs10800397 T Allele Carrier/		
		rs10919035 T Allele Carrier		
UGT2B15	Genotype	*1/*2	+6.11	0.004

Table 20: PPS% Genomic Summary

The effect refers to the outcome derived from the statistical analysis and its impact on the PPS%. A negative result signifies a functional decline due to the specific polymorphism, whereas a positive value indicates an elevation function. These are in percentages. The P- value shows the statistical significance of each effect.

CHAPTER 4. DISCCUSION

This study has made significant strides in understanding the intricate relationship between genetic variations and the efficacy of opioid therapy in the context of hospice and palliative care. Specifically, we identified several single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and corresponding genes that may influence an individual's response to opioids, including those potentially linked to opioid resistance. These findings are especially noteworthy given the limited application of pharmacogenomics (PGx) techniques in hospice settings.

The potential clinical implications of these results are manifold. For example, identifying genetic markers associated with opioid resistance could enable personalized treatment strategies, reducing the trial-and-error approach commonly employed in pain management for hospice patients. This is a pressing need because this patient population often struggles with complex, severe pain resistant to standard opioid therapies.

4.1 Implications of Non-Genomic Data

Initially, non-genomic data was statistically analyzed. The only demographic factor correlated with the four significant variables (Average Pain, Maximum Pain, MME, and PSS%) was age and MME. Age was a predictive factor for morphine dosing. Age negatively impacted morphine dosage with a coefficient of -8.20 (p=0.021). The linear regression for age implies that for each year of age, the calculated morphine dosage decreases by 8.20 mg, holding all other factors constant. While it may seem counterintuitive, there is a fear of addiction among long-term hospice and palliative care patients on opioid therapy⁹⁹. A possible explanation for the gradual tapering of opioid therapy based on age could be addiction-related worries. Another possible explanation is

that hospice and palliative care patients may be unable to communicate their pain management needs as their disease progresses and they age¹⁰⁰.

Opioid-related side effects in terms of demographics were also analyzed. We found that gender significantly influences the severity of specific opioid side effects— specifically constipation, dry mouth, abdominal pain, and urinary retention. Two side effects, itching and sweating, were linked to age. Older patients experienced a greater degree of itching and sweating than younger patients. However, we cannot definitively say that opioids caused these factors in these patients, as the MME did not significantly impact any opioid side effects documented by the NOSE.

The variation in side effects in males and females could be related to sex differences, but there are too many confounding variables for this to be a definitive explanation. Patients might have secondary conditions we were not privy to that influence these results. These conditions might be related to secondary diseases, postoperative symptoms, or a condition that has gone undiagnosed. These might also be the long-term effects of substance abuse or drugs they were previously on. These reasons are purely speculative, and the data afford no definitive explanation.

Our results are in line with previous research regarding itching and age. The high prevalence of these symptoms in aging patients is due to the physiology of aging skin: poor hydration, impaired barrier function of the skin, and alterations in kidney function¹⁰¹. For sweating, the causes could be varied. These can be a symptom of pain or other medications patients are taking. Sweating can also result from psychological conditions such as depression and anxiety¹⁰².

In the genomic analysis, we found 24 out of the 50 analyzed genes to be

significant. Regarding demographics, only one gene, interferon lambda 3 (IFNL3), showed significance concerning ethnicity. This gene's SNP is crucial in predicting the treatment of hepatitis C with interferon and ribavirin and plays a vital role in antiviral host defense¹⁰³. An important point to note is that the versions of *IFNL3* differ based on ethnicity. The favorable variant is most common among Caucasians and least common among African Americans. A large majority of African Americans possess the non-favorable variant¹⁰⁴. Our results follow this, with 80% of Caucasians possessing the favorable genotype and 100% of African Americans possessing the non-favorable genotype. These statistics align with previous research and demonstrate the validity of our methodology.

4.2 Main Variables and Significant Relationships

We based the four main variables in this study on our hypotheses and PGx relationships. They were average pain, maximum pain, MME, and PPS%. These were the primary variables due to their relationship with opioids, pain, and clinical outcomes.

Along with maximum pain, our analyses found that several genes also influenced a patient's average pain, which we defined as the typical pain over a 24-hour period. These were *AGTR1*, *HTR2A*, *SLCO1B1* and *UGT2B15*. We found a significant correlation between the angiotensin II receptor type I (AGTR1) phenotype, genotype, and maximum pain. AGTR1 is accountable for synthesizing a protein identified as the angiotensin II receptor type 1 (AT1 receptor). This protein plays a crucial role in the renin-angiotensin system, which is pivotal for regulating blood pressure and the equilibrium of fluids and electrolytes within the organism¹⁰⁴.

In terms of genotype, individuals with the heterozygous WT (WT/c.*86A>C)

genotype experienced higher average pain compared to those with the homozygous WT (WT/WT) genotype. For phenotype, results indicate higher average pain for the rs5186 AC variant than the AA variant. Most of the PGx research on AGTR1 is based on the cardiovascular system, and no robust evidence is related to pain or opioids. However, AGTR1 polymorphisms are responsible for increased inflammation¹⁰⁵. These polymorphisms may explain why patients experience more significant pain with the genotype and phenotype variants.

The serotonin receptor 2A (HTR2A) demonstrated significance in genotype but not phenotype in relation to average pain. *HTR2A* encodes for one of the receptors for serotonin. Animal models have shown that the HTR2A receptor mediates pain processing in the spinal cord by regulating glutamatergic activity¹⁰⁶. Our results showed that *HTR2A* polymorphisms had higher post-operative analgesic requirements¹⁰⁷. Our model was not robust enough to establish and could not determine if the *HTR2A* genotype increased or decreased average pain. However, due to the significance of the association and previous literature associating *HTR2A* with pain, this gene would benefit from PGx studies related to analgesics. More focused research would further strengthen the association between *HTR2A* and pain.

The following gene that was significant for average pain was lute carrier organic anion transporter family member 1B1 (SLCO1B1). SLCO1B produces a protein called organic anion transporting polypeptide, 1B1. This protein is found in hepatocytes and transports compounds from the blood into the liver to be cleared¹⁰⁸. *SLCO1B* was significant in both genotype and phenotype. Specifically, the *SLCO1B1*1* genotype is associated with higher average pain scores than other genotypes. Currently, there are no

PGx relationships with analgesics. *SLCO1B1* and genotype. One reason for this might be that other genotypes have reduced function and this may increase the systemic circulation of some opioids since SLCO1B1 functions in the liver. In terms of phenotype, those with the intermediate activity phenotype experienced lower-than- average pain. As there are no PGx relationships between analgesia and *SLCO1B1*, it is difficult to determine how these relationships affect one another. The low explanation of variance within the model indicates other factors at play for both the genotype and phenotype.

Lastly, UDP glucuronosyltransferase family 2 member B15 (UGT2B15) had both genotype and phenotype have a significant association with average pain. The *UGT2B15* gene is responsible for producing an enzyme involved in glucuronidation. This process, called a phase II metabolic reaction, converts lipophilic molecules into water-soluble substances that can be easily excreted. The UGT2B15 enzyme is primarily found in the liver, which plays a critical role in the metabolism of various substrates, including therapeutic drugs like benzodiazepines¹⁰⁹.

In terms of genotype, based on the regression equation, individuals with the *1/*1 genotype reported the highest average pain, followed by the *2/*2 genotype and then the *1/*2 genotype. Most studies involving UGT2B15 relate to the metabolism of anxiolytics. In a study with lorazepam, clearance of the drug was lower in the *2/*2 genotype than in the *1/*1 genotype ¹¹⁰. Since UGT2B15 is produced primarily in the liver and performs glucuronidation, it may be related to opioid metabolism. A possible reason for the *1/*1 genotype experiencing more pain than the homozygous and heterozygous genotypes is that opioids and their metabolites are cleared faster from their body than the *2/*2. This polymorphism would alter the amount of drugs a patient would

need. However, this is only a possible explanation based on a different drug class. More research is needed to investigate this relationship.

For phenotype, the rs1902023 AA variant significantly contributes to pain in individuals with this variant than without it. This corresponds with the above results as the *1/*1 is the genotype for the rs1902023 AA phenotype. Much like genotype, there is little literature on rs1902023 AA and pain. The closest evidence was that those with the AA genotype are associated with a more significant metabolism of acetaminophen. However, that study was in healthy patients. Increased clearance of acetaminophen may be contributing to the pain score. More research is needed to ascertain this relationship¹⁰⁹.

Maximum pain was the worst pain the patient experienced in the past 24 hours. The genes significantly associated with maximum pain were *COMT*, *CYP1A2*, *CYP2B6*, *DRD1*, *FAAH*, *MTHFR*, and *SLCO1B1*. Out of all the genes in the study, only *SLCO1B1* was involved in both maximum and average pain. Catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) is a prominent gene in pharmacogenomics. Genetic alterations within *COMT* have been associated with mental health conditions such as schizophrenia, pain perception mediated by opioid receptors, and the development of breast cancer.

The COMT enzyme facilitates the transmission of a methyl group from Sadenosyl-l-methionine (SAM) to a hydroxyl group on the catechol substrate. This reaction requires the presence of magnesium ions¹¹¹. We found a positive association between *COMT*'s phenotypes and pain. Specifically, we predict that individuals with the MET Homozygous phenotype will have a maximum pain score 1.393 points lower than Non-MET Homozygous individuals. This finding follows throughout the literature. A polymorphism replaces a methionine (Met) with a valine (Val) at codon 158 in COMT.

We have observed that subjects with a Met/Met genotype exhibit low COMT activity¹¹². This polymorphism has led to an increase in pain response. Many studies have confirmed that this homozygous genotype is associated with increased pain from fibromyalgia to the transition from acute to chronic lower back pain¹¹³.

Regarding opioids, patients with the homozygous Met substitution had a higher pain sensitivity and more extended amounts of chronic pain than other polymorphisms. Researchers believe this mechanism impacts enkephalin, an endogenous opioid capable of reciprocally regulating MOP expression¹¹⁴. Based on the literature, we have observed that individuals with a homozygous Non-Methionine polymorphism may experience increased pain¹¹⁵.

CYP1A2 is part of the cytochrome P-450 (CYP) enzyme family that plays a vital role in drug metabolism. Various CYP enzymes are responsible for the catalysis of 70-80% of all phase I reactions. However, the CYP1A2 isoform is only responsible for metabolizing 5% of drugs in the CYP family of enzymes¹¹⁶.

CYP1A2 is not associated with opioids and is most commonly associated with antipsychotics and methylxanthines such as theophylline and caffeine. In our study, both genotype and phenotype affected maximum pain. Regarding genotype, we associated the *1A/*1F, *1C/*1F/*1F, and *1F/*1F genotypes (which are all classified as the high inducibility metabolizer phenotype) with increasing pain scores. We consider *CYP1A2*1A* to be the principal or 'wild-type' genotype. We associate the *1F genotype with the 'ultrarapid metabolizer'¹¹⁷. While not associated with opioids, it is associated with a faster caffeine metabolism. This genotype is also associated with a faster metabolism of clozapine¹¹⁸. The *1C allele is associated with decreased enzymatic

activity⁵¹. In our study, the *1F allele was present in all the groups with increasing pain scores. This polymorphism concerning pain scores is a new finding, as there have not been any associations with opioids or analgesics in the literature. Our group identified the ultra- rapid metabolizer allele in individuals who reported increased pain. Ultra-rapid metabolizers may suggest a pharmacogenetic reaction that requires further investigation. Adding to the evidence that ultra-rapid metabolizers in *CYP1A2* contribute to maximum pain, we found that the normal metabolizer group reported lower maximum pain than the high inducibility metabolizer group. This finding reinforces the link between individuals with a high metabolism and increased pain levels.

Another member of the CYP family was involved in increased pain, which was cytochrome P450 family 2 subfamily B member 6 (CYP2B6). CYP2B6 is one of the most highly polymorphic human members of the CYP family, with over 100 different SNPs¹¹⁹. *CYP2B6* makes up about 3-6% of the total CYP in the liver and processes numerous drugs, including bupropion, ketamine, and propofol. It also can de-toxify and bioactivate several procarcinogens and environmental toxicants¹²⁰. *CYP2B6* was significant in both terms of genotype and phenotype.

Regarding genotype, two were relevant: A785G/A785G/G516T for association with less pain than WT and A785G/A785G/G516T/G516T with more pain than WT. These CYP2B6*6 SNPs 785A>G (rs2279343) and 516G>T (rs3745274) were associated with high methadone clearance, a lower plasma concentration, and a lower concentration to dosage ratio of (S)-methadone¹²¹. Therefore, it makes sense that a patient that is homozygous for both of these polymorphisms clears opioids faster, leading to a need for more pain relief.

These factors align with the with phenotype: G516T Heterozygous/A785G Homozygous exhibits lower pain than G516T Homozygous/A785G Homozygous. Due to these findings, we must conduct more research to confirm this association conclusively. However, it does mark an indicator for possible clinical use.

Dopamine Receptor D1 (DRD1) is the most abundant dopamine receptor in the CNS. DRD1 is a G-protein coupled receptor, which stimulates adenylyl cyclase. *DRD1* also activates cyclic-AMP protein kinases¹²². For our study, in terms of maximum pain, both genotype and phenotype were significant in average pain.

Regarding genotype, the maximum pain level of those homozygous for the c.-48G>A polymorphism was greater than that of the WT/WT. Furthermore, those heterozygous with the wild-type, WT/c.-48G>A, also experienced a higher maximum pain level.

Regarding phenotype, analysis was between the rs4532 CC genotype and the non-CC genotype. We observed a significant association between the *DRD1* phenotype and maximum pain, explaining approximately 33.33% of the variance in pain perception.

Individuals with the rs4532 CC genotype reported lower maximum pain levels than those with the non-CC phenotype. However, our cohort contained only one patient with the rs4532 CC phenotype, corresponding to the homozygous wild-type genotype.

In terms of opioids and other drugs, *DRD1* is an integral part of reward-related processes, especially those in drug reward and conditioning¹²³. *DRD1* is implicated in addiction to drugs as well as engaging in high-risk behavior¹²⁴. The SNP rs4532 was studied in chronically prescribed opioid patients in pain clinics¹²⁵. The study focused on the Genetic Addiction Risk Test (GARS), which is clinically proven to be able to predict

vulnerability to pain using PGx¹²⁵. The *DRD1* rs4532 allele was the most frequently observed risk allele in the study cohort, with a presence in 87.60% of the participants.

The prevalence of rs4532 made it the most prevalent allele among those tested¹²⁵. In one study, there was an association with the SNP rs4532 in Han Chinese addicts from the rapidity of the first use of an opioid to addiction¹²⁶. Another study found that rs4532 could be associated with less pleasurable opioid responses after dependence¹²⁷. The lack of a pleasurable response can explain why maximum pain scores were higher in those with this SNP since euphoria can mask pain. The high pain scores with this SNP could be because opioids in these patients do not provide the complete analgesic response, leading to more pain. PGx analysis could undoubtedly help these patients and modulate opioid dosing based on these findings. However, further investigation is needed to determine an exact treatment protocol and the reasoning for the higher pain scores.

Next, we found that the genotype and phenotype of Fatty-acid amide hydrolase 1 (FAAH) significantly influenced maximum pain. FAAH is vital in mammals, as it produces an enzyme that breaks down a group of signaling lipids known as fatty acid amides. These are naturally occurring within the body. Notably, these lipids include anandamide, an endogenous cannabinoid, and oleamide, which induces sleep. For genotype, the c.385C>A/c.385C>A polymorphism reported, on average less pain than those with the WT/WT genotype (WT). On the other hand, individuals with the WT/c.385C>A genotype experienced more pain than the WT/WT genotype. It makes logical sense that someone with the homozygous polymorphism will experience more intense pain relief than someone with the WT or heterozygous polymorphism. The c.385C>A substitution results in around a 50% cellular expression loss of FAAH due to

the reduced stability of the mutant protein ¹²⁸. The mutant protein could result in reduced metabolism of endogenous endocannabinoids, such as anandamide. The endocannabinoid system is known to modulate pain¹²⁹, and with these SNPs inactivating a large amount of FAAH, this could, in turn, increase pain relief. FAAH inhibitors also reduced anxiety in mice¹³⁰, a psychological component of pain.

In terms of phenotype, the results follow identically. The rs324420 CA and CC genotypes had higher maximum pain than the rs324420 AA variant. The results we discovered in the genotypic expression are consistent with this information. The homozygous AA variant lessens the metabolism of endogenous cannabinoids and boosts endocannabinoid activity.

Another gene related to max pain is Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR). This gene is responsible for producing an enzyme named methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase. This enzyme is essential in the metabolism of amino acids. It is crucial to note that MTHFR facilitates a chemical reaction that depends on the vitamin folate¹³¹. MTHFR assists in the conversion of folate into its primary form found in the blood. The gene also converts homocysteine to methionine¹³².

Genotype and phenotype were associated with lower maximum pain scores: C677T/A1298C and C677T Heterozygous Mutation/A1298C Heterozygous Mutation genotype. This mutation reduces the activity of MTHFR by 35% in those who are heterozygous. This results in blood loss of folate and amino acid conversion¹³³. Currently, with this variant, no relevant PGx relationship would explain a drop in pain. There have been studies with conflicting results on whether variants in *MTHFR* produce headaches or migraines¹³⁴. Recent findings indicate that *MTHFR* variants occur more frequently in opioid users than in the general population¹³⁵. The literature does not establish any connections between *MTHFR* function and opioids. Without research, it is difficult to speculate what these pain scores represent inside our population. Further research is necessary into these *MTHFR* variants and associated pain in hospice and palliative care.

Lastly, SLCO1B1 was significant for maximum pain, as it was for average pain. Both the genotype and phenotype were the same in terms of results. The *SLCO1B1*1* genotype is associated with higher maximum pain scores, and the Intermediate metabolizer phenotype was associated with lower maximum pain scores. The model's rsquared was still low. For clinical data, there is evidence that variants with lower methotrexate clearance¹³⁶. The clearance of opioids might be affected as it is a hepatic enzyme, but we need to conduct more research to confirm this.

We found three genes significantly associated with MME: *CDA*, *CNR1*, and *CYP1A2*. The *CDA* gene's primary role is the recycling of free pyrimidines, salvaging them. CDA is one of several deaminases responsible for maintaining the cellular pyrimidine pool. The recycling activity of CDA within the pyrimidine salvage pathway is essential for DNA and RNA synthesis. The gene itself plays a role in the metabolism of the cancer drug cytarabine¹³⁷. CDA can deaminate cytidine and deoxycytidine-based therapies. CDA overexpression is associated with lower chemotherapeutic side effects and resistance to chemotherapeutic treatment¹³⁸. There is no literature on the relationship between *CDA* and morphine metabolism. However, our findings indicate that the rs532545 C allele was associated with a substantial increase in the calculated morphine dosage by 94.5 mg (p=0.035) compared to the rs532545 T allele. This finding highlights

the potential impact of genetic variation in the *CDA* gene on opioid dose requirements. This particular allele may alter the function or expression of the *CDA* enzyme, leading to changes in morphine metabolism or response. Our model presents predictive power (Rsquared predictive=5.00%) but is relatively low. There are still significant variations in morphine dosing that we have yet to consider. We need further research to strengthen the association between the rs532545 C allele and increased morphine dosage, as we have not yet explained why this is the case.

The gene *CNR1* is part of the endocannabinoid system in the central nervous system. Like opioid receptors, cannabinoid receptors are part of the guanine-nucleotide binding protein (G-protein) receptor family¹³⁹. Significant cross-talk exists in the endogenous cannabinoid and opioid systems¹⁴⁰. Due to this, there is evidence that CNR1 plays a role in the addiction process, including opioid addiction¹⁴¹. Our study observed a statistically significant relationship between the CNR1 phenotypes and the calculated morphine dose (F(1,16)=5.61, p=0.031). The results indicate that alterations in CNR1 genetics, particularly in rs806368 non-TT and TT genotypes, could impact the morphine needed. The non-TT genotype was associated with a decrease in the calculated morphine dosage by 102.3 mg (p=0.031) relative to the TT genotype. People who do not have the TT genotype may need lower doses of morphine to achieve the same pain-relieving effects. Recent studies have shown that both receptor types can produce antinociception, drowsiness, hypotension, motor depression, and drug reward/reinforcement when used agonists¹⁴². A possible mechanism may be interaction with the endocannabinoid system, increasing analgesic effects and thus decreasing the need for larger doses of opioids.

CYP1A2 is part of the cytochrome P-450 (CYP) enzyme family essential to drug

metabolism. Various CYP enzymes are responsible for the catalysis of 70-80% of all phase I reactions. However, the CYP1A2 isoform is only responsible for metabolizing 5% of drugs in the CYP family of enzymes¹¹⁶. CYP1A2 is not associated with opioids and is most commonly associated with antipsychotics and methylxanthines such as theophylline and caffeine. Our results associated the high inducibility metabolizer phenotype with a 95.5 mg reduction in the calculated morphine dose (p = 0.046) compared to normal metabolizers. While this may seem contradictory, several opioid drugs are pro-drugs. A few include oxycodone, codeine, and hydrocodone¹⁴³. Calculating morphine equivalents, we combine these drugs into a singular value. Those with the high inducibility metabolizer phenotype may convert opioid pro-drugs into drugs quicker, increasing their analgesic effect and thus negating the need for higher doses of opioids.

Lastly, PPS% was analyzed. Four genes were significantly associated with PPS%. These included *CYP4F2*, *HLA-B*, *NOS1AP*, and *UGT2B15*. Cytochrome P450 family 4 subfamily F member 2 (CYP4F2), situated in the endoplasmic reticulum, initiates the breakdown and neutralization of leukotriene B4¹⁴⁴. This is a potent inflammation inducer. *CYP4F2* also plays a role in metabolizing fatty acids and vitamin E^{145} . *1/*1 and *1/*3 genotypes were associated with lower PPS% compared to the *3/*3 genotype. Individuals with a *3/*3 genotype may require less warfarin than those with other genetic variations, as the former may provide a protective effect ¹⁴⁶. This genotype also appears to increase human exposure to vitamin K¹⁴⁷. *CYP4F2*3/*3* may relay a protective effect against bleeds and the low therapeutic index drug of warfarin, which many palliative and hospice patients must take. This may lead to an increase in PPS%, associated with higher survival and outcomes. In terms of phenotype, "Intermediate Metabolizer" and "Normal Metabolizer" are associated with lower PPS% compared to the "Poor Metabolizer" phenotype in our study. Because of this, normal and intermediate metabolizers have worse patient outcomes than poor ones. The result of normal and intermediate metabolizers having poorer outcomes may have to do with the significance of warfarin dosing and the fact that *CYP4F2* is related to increased vitamin K levels. There is also evidence that high levels of CYP4F2 promote lung cancer¹⁴⁸, which may further impact PPS%.

Major histocompatibility complex, class I, B (HLA-B) plays a critical role as it enables the immune system to differentiate between proteins produced by the body and those produced by external invaders like bacteria and viruses. *HLA-B* is responsible for creating a protein pivotal to the immune system's functioning¹⁴⁹. Both the phenotype and genotype were associated with significance with PPS%. The WT/*5801 has a higher PPS% than that of the WT. Typically, the variant HLA-B*5801 is implicated in many adverse drug reactions, notably allopurinol¹⁵⁰. The HLA-B*5801variant having better patient outcomes (increased PPS%) compared to the WT seems counterintuitive. The cohort under investigation also includes people with HIV, and this variant is responsible for hepatotoxicity during retroviral therapy¹⁵¹. Due to the many negative effects of the variant, it is unclear why there is an association with HLA-B*5801 and higher PPS%. Further investigation needs to be done, especially in the realm of this patient population with this variant. For phenotype, being an HLA-B5801 Allele Carrier also was associated with a higher PPS%, an identical result.

Our analysis showed that the Nitric Oxide Synthase 1 Adaptor Protein (NOS1AP) gene is significantly associated with PPS%. The protein NOS1AP interacts with neuronal

nNOS in cytoplasm¹⁵². Specifically, rs10494366 GG genotype/rs10800397 T Allele Carrier/rs10919035 T Allele Carrier was associated with lower PPS%. This has to do with several factors. Individuals with a GG genotype at rs10494366 compared to individuals with the TT genotype at the same site, using glibenclamide, results in a lower efficacy of glucose reduction and higher mortality rates when using the same medication¹⁵³. In addition, the SNP rs10800397 increased the incidence of drug-induced long QT syndrome¹⁵⁴. Because of these factors, this variant likely results in lowered patient outcomes due to its effect on the heart and medications relating to it.

Lastly, UGT2B15 was associated with PPS% and was also associated with average pain. In this case, we associate the '*1/2' variant with a higher PPS% than other variants. One study associated the UGT2B151/*2 variant with poorer outcomes when patients received tamoxifen for breast cancer¹⁵⁵. This could be responsible for the degenerating palliative performance that our model predicts.

4.3 Clinical Implications

This study has significant implications for clinical practice and has the potential to change the traditional one-size-fits-all approach to pain management. Integrating genomic analyses with clinical practice can lead to personalized pain management based on the patient's genetic makeup. Genomic analysis has the potential to improve the effectiveness of opioid dosing. The unique variations in each patient can be better visualized through a matrix plot (Figure 8) showing the extreme variations in each patient. The visualization of these baseline scores helps put the genomic data in perspective.

To assess the clinical implications of this study, we combined the PGx results across

the four variables: average pain, maximum pain, Morphine Milligram Equivalents (MME), and Palliative Performance Scale (PPS%). The additive genomic effects were to provide a general overview of the study and better enable clinical analysis.

Table 21 displays the overall genomic effect on average pain for each individual patient. Patient 1 demonstrated a negative overall effect on average pain of -2.73. Patient 1 possessed a negative score despite having a baseline average pain score of 4. These scores might suggest a potential resistance to pain, which may warrant a potential lower dose of opioids. Conversely, Patient 6 exhibited the highest recorded pain score of 10, along with the highest overall genomic effect on average pain, which was +6.31. This patient's high genomic score suggests a heightened sensitivity to pain, necessitating a more nuanced approach to pain management.

Regarding maximum pain, the differences in patients are equally revealing, depending on the sum of genomic effects (Table 22). Patient 16 presents with a baseline maximum pain score of 2 and possesses a significant genomic effect of -26.29 on maximum pain. The genomic effect was less pronounced on average pain at -4.74, but it still was the second-highest reduction in average pain for all patients. Patient 16 also presented with an average pain score of 2. These negative scores indicate a genetic predisposition towards pain resistance or pain tolerance and may require a less aggressive opioid dosing regimen. In contrast, patient 4 and patient 6 had genomic effects in the double digits, +14.83 and +13.18, respectively. They also both had maximal pain scores of 10. Patients 4 and 6 possessed high average pain scores as well.

Regarding significant differences between average pain and maximum pain and genomic effects, patient 11 was the most stark. For average pain, their overall genomic

effect was -4.15, and their average pain baseline was 3. For maximum pain, patient 11's genomic effect was +4.00, and their baseline maximum pain 10. These variations demonstrate the stark complexities of pain management. This patient might have a genomic effect that amplifies the feeling of acute or peak pain and might take more aggressive pain management to maintain comfort and function during these episodes.

MME also highlights the crucial observations genomically as well (Table 23). Patient 16, who had high pain resistance on both average pain and maximum pain, was also associated with a lower morphine dose of -102.3 mg. Their baseline morphine dose was also low at only 30 mg. In contrast, patient 8, with an overall genomic effect on morphine of +94.50 mg and a high opioid requirement of 540 mg, might have a genetic makeup that leads to rapid metabolism or reduced opioid sensitivity. Patient 8 might require even higher opioid doses outside the normal range. Patient 8's pain scores provide insight into the reasoning. Their average pain score was 7, and their maximum score was 8. This result challenges the idea of what is adequate in pain management. Similarly, patient 11 possessed a genomic effect of morphine as +94.50 mg, along with an overall MME of 525 mg. While this might be adequate for average pain since their baseline was a 3, it might require more aggressive treatment for incidents of acute pain since their maximal pain score was an 8.

The effect on morphine dose can also reveal those patients who are not getting adequate treatment. Ineffective treatment is especially stark in terms of patient 3. They have both high average and maximum pain, with scores of 8 and 10. Their morphine dose is 60 mg. While their overall genomic effect indicates they might require a lower morphine dose at -95.48 mg, they still possess high average and maximum pain scores.

The overall genomic effect on maximum pain in terms of patient 3 is pronounced, being +8.83. Despite requiring less morphine, this is counteracted by the susceptibility to high acute pain, as well as still possessing a high average pain score. This genomic information would allow for a better and more specified treatment regimen since the current amount of opioids is not enough to counter the effects of the pain they are experiencing.

While essentially different than pain, it is essential to look at a patient's functional status (Table 24). The PPS% of patient 1, with a baseline of 30% and a considerable negative genomic effect of -31.19%, might experience a more pronounced decline in their functional status. This insight could prompt earlier interventions tailored to the patient's needs to maintain the best possible quality of life. Comparatively, patient 17, who exhibits a significant positive genomic effect of +39.60% with a baseline of 60%, may maintain a better functional status than expected despite significant disease progression. Understanding such genomic influences can help anticipate the patient's trajectory, guiding decisions about resource allocation and the intensity of supportive care services. The variation in PPS% and genomic effects merits further study in this area outside of the context of opioid and pain associations.

This study's approach merits integrating genomic analysis into the clinical practice, as with this small sample size, there is substantial variability. The one-size-fitsall pain management approach is suboptimal. The incorporation of genomic data into clinical practice can highlight patient differences and offer insights as to how pain can be managed more effectively with less risk.

4.4 Limitations

While the study shows significance, it is only the first step, as we must refine methodologies. As mentioned in the introduction, hospice and palliative care are complicated to study. Our patient population is relatively small. Swabs were typically taken instead of blood samples due to the nature of the frailty of the patients and the constant administering of medications, leaving them with few extraction sites for blood. Drawing blood from this patient cohort requires a skilled phlebotomist.

In addition to that, it is difficult to have an opioid naïve control group in this population. Frequently, these patients are at the end of their lives and have been taking opioids for an extended period. This makes it challenging to compare epigenetic factors from a naïve population to one that has taken opioids for an extended period. There is a lack of a robust control group due to this.

There is a large signal-to-noise ratio. This is because are a vast number of factors that comprise PGx, and hospice and palliative patients may obscure results. This is because they have multiple chronic conditions, are on many medications, and may have experienced different treatment regimens.

In terms of medical records, they are challenging to track down before they enter the hospice and palliative care environment. Patients might have visited multiple physicians or received treatment in different hospitals, making locating records challenging. This might mean there are confounding variables that we cannot account for because we do not know of them. Similarly, with medical records, some opioid doses were given 'as needed,' which means whenever the patient wanted them. If we do not meticulously keep these records, it hampers our ability to calculate morphine dosages

accurately.

Combining genotypic and phenotypic results provides its limitations. While it is necessary to understand the interplay of genomic factors on pain and opioid dosing, several difficulties arise. The analysis treated all values equally when adding genotype and phenotype together. Equal treatment among genotype and phenotype is generally not the case, as one genotype or phenotype will have a more significant effect than another, influencing overall genomic scores. There is also the fact that there may be confounding variables influencing these scores beyond what we can see.

Lastly, while we did show significance in nearly half of our genes of interest, several more were just shy of being significant. This is because our sample size consisted of only 18 individuals. A more significant number of subjects would allow for even more robust evidence for the associations that we have discovered.

4.5 Conclusions and Future Research

In conclusion, this study provides new insights into the complex hospice and palliative care management field. We discovered that SNPs in multiple genes, such as *CYP1A2*, *HTR2A*, *CNR1*, and others, can significantly influence this patient cohort's average pain, maximum pain, MME, and PPS%. We also discovered novel genes not previously associated with opioid or pain response: *AGTR1*, *SLCO1B1*, and *UGT2B15*. These findings indicate a possible path to the genetic basis of pain and response to opioid medications. The associations we discovered between specific genotypes and phenotypes and morphine dosing suggest the potential for personalized opioid treatment plans based on a patient's genetic profile. Such as, variants in *CNR1* may require different doses for effective pain management. This further validates the use of PGx in the association

between opioids, pain, and patient outcomes.

Additional research is required to validate the clinical utility of these genomic profiles and establish strong, causative evidence-based linkages for opioid dosing regimens and pain management. Future studies could eliminate variables like numerous health conditions and focus on cancer since cancer induces epigenetic changes. A larger patient cohort would be valuable as well.

One developing area is PGx reporting phone applications that immediately show patients their results once the report is complete. With more evidence, these applications can also be included in the clinic, clearing up confusion and stigma with opioid prescribing. They could be linked to patient databases and change prescriptions in real time. These reports could also be broken down into simpler terms so caregivers can respond appropriately to accurate information and not be confused or afraid they will harm their loved ones with inaccurate dosing.

This study offers proof of concept to allow for a stepping stone to discovering these complex gene-phenotype and gene-drug interactions. Discovering these PGx markers through comprehensive study and analysis could lead to more precise and effective pain management. By implementing this approach, errors in opioid dosing and pain management will significantly decrease. Moreover, clinicians can access personalized patient profiles for accurate dosing. Further and most importantly, increasing the quality of life for those who need it the most.



Figure 8: Matrix Plot for All Patients with All Variables. This matrix plot illustrates the distribution and relationship of average pain, maximum pain, Morphine Milligram Equivalent (MME), and Palliative Performance Scale (PPS%) across our patient cohort. Each row represents a variable, while the numbered dot represents an individual patient, identified by number. The x-axis on the chart refers to each patient, while the y-values indicate a specific patient.

Patient	Overall Effect	Av.Pain Baseline
1	-2.73	4
2	+4.25	9
3	-2.68	8
4	-0.67	6
5	-6.21	3
6	+6.31	10
7	-0.67	7
8	-0.67	7
9	-4.20	5
10	-2.14	6
11	-4.15	3
12	+2.91	8
13	+1.26	7
14	-2.14	5
15	+0.90	6
16	-4.74	2
17	-4.20	5
18	-6.21	4

 Table 21: Overall Genomic Effect on Average Pain

This table represents the combined genomic effect on average pain across all genes, genotypes, and phenotypes. A positive score indicates a predisposition for higher pain levels, while a negative score indicates a predisposition to lower pain levels and pain tolerance.

Patient	Overall Effect	Max Pain Baseline
1	+4.68	4
2	+7.43	9
3	+8.83	10
4	+14.83	10
5	-23.37	3
6	+13.18	10
7	+4.15	8
8	+1.25	8
9	+7.43	10
10	+8.83	6
11	+4.00	8
12	+3.86	10
13	+5.93	8
14	+7.18	8
15	+2.50	9
16	-26.29	2
17	-2.64	7
18	+7.43	8

 Table 22: Overall Genomic Effect on Maximum Pain

This table represents the combined genomic effect on maximum pain across all genes, genotypes, and phenotypes. A positive score indicates a predisposition for higher pain levels, while a negative score indicates a predisposition to lower pain levels and pain tolerance.

	MME	
Patient	Overall Effect	MME Baseline
1	-0.98	135
2	-0.98	505
3	-95.48	60
4	-95.48	120
5	+94.50	540
6	-95.48	225
7	-0.98	120
8	+94.50	540
9	-197.78	20
10	-0.98	30
11	+94.50	525
12	-95.48	91
13	0.00	180
14	-197.78	37.5
15	-103.28	30
16	-102.30	30
17	-102.30	75
18	-103.28	115

 Table 23: Overall Genomic Effect on MME

This table represents the combined genomic effect on morphine milligram equivalents across all genes, genotypes, and phenotypes. A positive score indicates an association with a higher morphine dose, while a negative score indicates a predisposition to lower morphine dose. All values are in milligrams.

	PP5%	
Patient	Overall Effect	PPS% Baseline
1	-31.19	30
2	-11.12	40
3	+2.39	40
4	-11.12	40
5	-5.01	50
6	-11.12	40
7	-31.19	30
8	-11.12	40
9	-8.33	40
10	-28.40	40
11	-5.01	40
12	-11.12	40
13	+11.65	50
14	-5.01	50
15	-14.44	40
16	-14.44	40
17	+39.60	60
18	-5.01	50

 Table 24: Overall Genomic Effect on

 PPS%

This table represents the combined genomic effect on PPS% across all genes, genotypes, and phenotypes. A positive score indicates an association with a higher percentage, while a negative score indicates a predisposition towards a lower percentage. All values are percentages.

Gene	Genotype	Phenotype
ABCB1	c.3435T>C/c.3435T>C/c.2677T>G/c.2677T>G	rs2032582 CC genotype/rs1045642 GG genotype
	WT/c.2677T>G	rs2032582 AC genotype/rs1045642 AA genotype
	c.3435T>C/c.2677T>G	rs2032582 AC genotype/rs1045642 AG genotype
	WT/WT	rs2032582 AA genotype/rs1045642 AA genotype
	c.3435T>C/c.3435T>C/c.2677T>G	rs2032582 AC genotype/rs1045642 GG genotype
ACE	WT/WT	ACE Deletion
	WT/ACE Insertion	Heterozygous ACE Insertion
	ACE Insertion/ACE Insertion	Homozygous ACE Insertion
ADRA2A	WT/WT	rs1800544 GG genotype/rs1800545 GG genotype
	WT/c1252G>C	rs1800544 GC genotype/rs1800545 GG genotype
	c1252G>C/c1252G>C	rs1800544 CC genotype/rs1800545 GG genotype
	c1252G>C/c217G>A	rs1800544 GC genotype/rs1800545 GA genotype
AGTR1	WT/WT	rs5186 AA genotype
	WT/c.*86A>C	rs5186 AC genotype
ANKK1	WT/WT	Non A1 Carrier
	WT/A1	A1 Heterozygous
	A1/A1	A1 Homozygous
APOE	WT/WT	Non E2 Carrier
	WT/E2	E2 Carrier
ATM	WT/WT	rs11212617 CC genotype
	WT/c.175-5285G>T	rs11212617 AC genotype
	c.175-5285G>T/c.175-5285G>T	rs11212617 AA genotype
CDA	WT/WT	rs532545 C Allele
	WT/c451C>T	rs532545 T Allele
	c451C>T/c451C>T	rs532545 T Allele
CES1	WT/WT	rs71647871 C Allele
CNR1	WT/WT	rs806368 TT genotype
	WT/c.*3475A>G	rs806368 non-TT genotype
	c.*3475A>G/c.*3475A>G	rs806368 non-TT genotype
COMT	WT/WT	Non MET Homozygous
	WT/c.472G>A	Non MET Homozygous
	c.472G>A/c.472G>A	MET Homozygous
CYP1A2	*1C/*1C/*1F/*1F	High Inducibility Metabolizer
	*1F/*1F	High Inducibility Metabolizer
	*1C/*1F/*1F	High Inducibility Metabolizer
	*1A/*1A *14/*1F	Normal Metabolizer
CV/D2D(*1/*1	
CYP2B6	* I/* I	Wild Type
	A/830/A/830/03101/03101	G516T Homozygous/A785G Homozygous
	A/830/A/830/03101	G516T Heterozygous/A/85G Hotorozygous
CVD2C10	A/830/03101 *1/*1	Normal Match alizar
CTP2C19	*1/*1	Normal Metabolizer
	*1/*2	Deer Metabolizer
	*1/*17	Rapid Metabolizer
CVD2C8	*1/*1	Wild Type
C112C6	*1/*3	Allele 3 Carrier
CVP2C0	*1/*1	Normal Matabalizer
011207	*1/*2	Intermediate Metabolizer
	*1/*3	Intermediate Metabolizer
Gene	Genotype	Phenotype

APPENDIX 1. FULL GENE, GENOTYPE AND PHENOTYPE LIST

CYP2D6	*1/*1xN	Ultrarapid Metabolizer
	*1xN/*2	Ultrarapid Metabolizer
	*1/*1	Normal Metabolizer
	*1/*2	Normal Metabolizer
	*1/*5	Normal Metabolizer
	*1/*9	Normal Metabolizer
	*1/*10	Normal Metabolizer
	*2/*2	Normal Metabolizer
	*2/*10	Normal Metabolizer
	*2/*35	Normal Metabolizer
	*4/*35	Normal Metabolizer
	*5/*41	Intermediate Metabolizer
	*41/*41	Normal Metabolizer
CYP3A4	*1A/*1A	Normal Metabolizer
0110111	*1A/*1B	Intermediate Metabolizer
	*1B/*1B	Poor Metabolizer
CYP3A5	*1A/*1A	High Expresser
0110110	*1A/*3A	Expresser
	*34/*34	Non Expresser
	*3A/*7	Non Expresser
CVP4F2	*1/*1	Normal Metabolizer
011412	*1/*3	Intermediate Metabolizer
	*3/*3	Poor Metabolizer
DPYD	*1/*1	Normal Metabolizer
DIID	*5/*9Δ	Normal Metabolizer
	*1/*5	Normal Metabolizer
	*5/*5	Normal Metabolizer
	*1/*1	Normal Metabolizer
	1/	Normal Metabolizer
	1/ 7A *5/*0 \/_ 406 \\C/TV\$10_15T\C	Normal Metabolizer
	*0 A /2 496A \C/IVS10 15T\C	Intermediata Metabolizar
	*9A/C.490A~0/1V 510-131~C	Intermediate Metabolizer
	24064>G/IVS10.15T>C	Poor Metabolizer
וחמת	WT/WT	rad522 CC construe
DKD1	WT/c 48G>A	rs4532 cc genotype
	W 1/C400/A	rs4532 non-CC genotype
נתתת	U-480-A/C-480-A	nst552 holi-CC genotype
DKD2	WT/c 585A > G	rs1700078 C allale Corrier
EDCC1	a 254T>C/a 254T>C	m2212086 C Allele Carrier/m11615 nen AA genetime/m725482 AA genetime
EKCCI	c.5341 < C/c.5341 < C/c.5441	miss212960 C Allele Callel/Is11015 holl-AA genotype/Is/55462 AA genotype
	254T>C/= 254T>C/= *021T>C	rs212960 AA genotype/1511015 non-AA genotype/15/55462 AA genotype
	c.5541>C/c.5541>C/c.*9511>G	rs3212986 C Allele Carrier/m11615 non-AA genotype/rs/35482 non-AA genotype
	c.*19/G>1/c.3541>C/c.3541>C	rs3212986 C Allele Carrier/rs11615 non-AA genotype/rs/35482 AA genotype
	c.*19/G>1/c.3541>C	rs3212986 C Allele Carrier/rs11615 non-AA genotype/rs/35482 AA genotype
	c.3541>C/c.*9311>G	rs3212986 C Allele Carrier/rs11615 non-AA genotype/rs/35482 non-AA genotype
	c.*19/G>1/c.3541>C/c.*9311>G	rs3212986 C Allele Carrier/rs11615 non-AA genotype/rs/35482 non-AA genotype
	c.*19/G>1/c.3541>C/c.3541>C/c.*9311>G	rs3212986 C Allele Carrier/rs11615 non-AA genotype/rs/35482 non-AA genotype
F 2	W1/W1	rs3212986 C Allele Carrier/rs11615 AA genotype/rs/35482 AA genotype
<u>F2</u>	W 1/W 1	What type
F5		Non Factor V Leiden Carrier
	W1/c.1601G>A	Factor V Leiden Carrier
FAAH	W1/WT	rs324420 CC genotype
	W1/c.385C>A	rs324420 CA genotype
	c.385C>A/c.385C>A	rs324420 AA genotype
G6PD	WT/WT	Normal G6PD Efficiency
CD III I	A/A	G6PD Deticiency
GRIK4	WT/WT	rs1954787 T Allele Carrier
	W1/c.83-100391>C	rs1954/8/ T Allele Carrier
GSTP1	WT/WT	rs1695 AA genotype
	WT/c.313A>G	rs1695 AG genotype
	c.313A>G/c.313A>G	rs1695 GG genotype
HLA-B	W1/WT	Wild Type
	W1/*5701	HLA-B*5701 Allele Carrier
	W1/*5801	HLA-B*5801 Allele Carrier

Gene	Genotype	Phenotype
HTR1A	WT/WT	rs6295 CC genotype/rs1800044 C Allele Carrier
	WT/c1019G>C	rs6295 non-CC genotype/rs1800044 C Allele Carrier
	c1019G>C/c1019G>C	rs6295 non-CC genotype/rs1800044 C Allele Carrier
HTR2A	WT/WT	rs7997012 non-GG genotype
	WT/c.614-2211T>C	rs7997012 non-GG genotype
	c.614-2211T>C/c.614-2211T>C	rs7997012 GG genotype
HTR2C	WT/WT	rs1414334 C Allele Carrier
	c759C>T/c.551-3008C>G/c.551-3008C>G	rs1414334 C Allele Carrier
	c.551-3008C>G/c.551-3008C>G	rs1414334 G Allele Carrier
	WT/c.551-3008C>G	rs1414334 C Allele Carrier
	c759C>T/c759C>T/	rs1414334 C Allele Carrier
	c.551-3008C>G/c.551-3008C>G	
IFNL3	WT/WT	Favorable Response Genotype
	WT/39738787C>T	Unfavorable Response Genotype
	39738787C>T/39743165T>G	Unfavorable Response Genotype
	39738787C>T/39738787C>T/	Unfavorable Response Genotype
	39743165T>G/39743165T>G	
ITPA	WT/WT	Non-protective Wild Type
,	WT/c.124+21A>C	rs7270101 C Allele Carrier
	WT/c.94C>A	rs1127354 A Allele Carrier
	c.94C>A/c.124+21A>C	rs1127354 A Allele Carrier/rs7270101 C Allele Carrier
KIF6	WT/WT	rs20455 AA genotype
	WT/c.2155T>C	rs20455 non-AA genotype
	c.2155T>C/c.2155T>C	rs20455 non-AA genotype
MTHFR	X WT/WT	Wild Type
	WT/A1298C	A1298C Heterozygous Mutation
	WT/C677T	C677T Heterozygous Mutation
	A1298C/A1298C	A1298C Homozygous Mutation
	C677T/A1298C	C677T Heterozygous Mutation/A1298C Heterozygous Mutation
	C677T/C677T	C677T Homozygous Mutation
NAT2	*5/*6/*12/*13	Slow Acetylator
	*5/*5/*12/*12	Slow Acetylator
	*5/*5/*12	Slow Acetylator
	*6/*13	Intermediate Acetylator
	*5/*12/*12/*13	Intermediate Acetylator
	*4/*5	Intermediate Acetylator
	*5/*12	Intermediate Acetylator
	*5/*12/*12	Intermediate Acetylator
	*5/*7/*13	Slow Acetylator

Gene	Genotype	Phenotype
NOS1AP	c.178-20044C>T/c.178-13122C>T	rs10494366 GG genotype/rs10800397 T Allele Carrier/
		rs10919035 T Allele Carrier
	c.106-38510G>T/c.178-20044C>T/	rs10494366 GT genotype/rs10800397 T Allele Carrier/
	c.178-13122C>T	rs10919035 T Allele Carrier
	c.106-38510G>T/c.178-20044C>T/	rs10494366 GT genotype/rs10800397 T Allele Carrier/
	c.178-20044C>T/c.178-13122C>T	rs10919035 T Allele Carrier
	WT/c.106-38510G>T	rs10494366 GT genotype/rs10800397 C Allele Carrier/
		rs10919035 C Allele Carrier
	c.106-38510G>T/c.178-20044C>T	rs10494366 GT genotype/rs10800397 T Allele Carrier/
		rs10919035 C Allele Carrier
	c.106-38510G>T/c.106-38510G>T	rs10494366 TT genotype/rs10800397 C Allele Carrier/
		rs10919035 C Allele Carrier
	c.106-38510G>T/c.106-38510G>T/	rs10494366 TT genotype/rs10800397 T Allele Carrier/
	c.178-20044C>T/c.178-13122C>T	rs10919035 T Allele Carrier
	WT/WT	rs10494366 GG genotype/rs10800397 C Allele Carrier/
		rs10919035 C Allele Carrier
NQO1	WT/WT	rs1800566 non-AA genotype
00001 (1	W1/c.559C>1	rs1800566 non-AA genotype
OPRMI	W17W1	rs1799971 A Allele Carrier/rs510679 TT genotype
	W1/c.290+1050C>1	rs1/999/1 A Allele Carrier/rs5106/9 non-11 genotype
	W1/c.118A>G	rs1799971 G Allele Carrier/rs510679 TT genotype
CONDA	c.290+1050C>1/c.290+1050C>1	rs1/999/1 A Allele Carrier/rs5106/9 non-11 genotype
SUN2A	w1/w1	rs2304016 non-GG genotype
SLC6A4	5/5 S/T A	HIILPK Short Form
		HTTL DD Long Form
	S/LG	HTTI PR Short Form
SI CO1B1	*1/*1	Normal Activity
SLCOIDI	*1/*5	Intermediate Activity
TPMT	*1/*1	Normal Metabolizer
UGT1A1	*1/*1	Non *28 Allele Carrier
	*1/*28	Heterozygous *28 Allele Carrier
	*28/*28	Homozygous *28 Allele Carrier
UGT2B15	*1/*1	rs1902023 AA genotype
	*1/*2	rs1902023 non-AA genotype
	*2/*2	rs1902023 non-AA genotype
VKORC1	WT/WT	rs9923231 G Allele Carrier
	WT/-1639G>A	rs9923231 A Allele Carrier
	-1639G>A/-1639G>A	rs9923231 A Allele Carrier
XRCC1	WT/WT	rs25487 T Allele Carrier
	WT/-1639G>A	rs9923231 A Allele Carrier
	c.1196A>G/c.1196A>G	rs25487 C Allele Carrier

Variable Gene Regression Equation Factor Avg. Pain Genotype = 6.967 + 1.700 Geneotype_WT/c.*86A>C - 1.700 Geneotype_WT/WT AGTR1 Phenotype = 6.967 - 1.700 Phenotype rs5186 AA genotype + 1.700 Phenotype rs5186 AC genotype HTR2A Avg. Pain Phenotype = 5.788 + 0.412 Phenotype_rs7997012 GG genotype - 0.412 Phenotype_rs7997012 non-GG SLCO1B1 Avg. Pain Genotype = 5.604 + 1.032 Geneotype_*1/*1 - 1.032 Geneotype_*1/*5 Phenotype = 5.604 - 1.032 Phenotype Intermediate Activity + 1.032 Phenotype Normal Activity UGT2B15 Avg. Pain Genotype = 6.222 + 2.028 Geneotype *1/*1 - 1.472 Geneotype *1/*2 - 0.556 Geneotype *2/*2 Phenotype = 6.696 + 1.554 Phenotype_rs1902023 AA genotype - 1.554 Phenotype_rs1902023 non-AA Max Pain Phenotype = 6.893 - 1.393 Phenotype_MET Homozygous + 1.393 Phenotype_Non MET Homozygous COMT CYP1A2 Max Pain Genotype = 6.747 - 2.747 Geneotype *1A/*1A + 1.253 Geneotype *1A/*1F - 2.75 Geneotype_*1C/*1C/*1F/*1F + 1.653 Geneotype_*1C/*1F/*1F + 2.587 Geneotype *1F/*1F Phenotype = 7.250 + 1.250 Phenotype_High Inducibility Metabolizer - 1.250 Phenotype Normal CYP2B6 Max Pain Genotype = 7.000 + 1.333 Geneotype *1/*1 - 4.00 Geneotype A785G/A785G/G516T + 3.00 Geneotype A785G/A785G/G516T/G516T - 0.333 Geneotype A785G/G516T Phenotype = 7.000 - 0.333 Phenotype G516T Heterozygous/A785G Heterozygous - 4.00 Phenotype G516T Heterozygous/A785G Homozygous + 3.00 Phenotype G516T Homozygous/A785G Homozygous + 1.333 Phenotype Wild Type DRD1 Max Pain Genotype = 6.101 + 1.535 Geneotype c.-48G>A/c.-48G>A + 2.566 Geneotype_WT/c.-48G>A- 4.10 Geneotype WT/WT Phenotype = 5.00 - 3.00 Phenotype rs4532 CC genotype + 3.00 Phenotype rs4532 non-CC genotype Max Pain Genotype = 5.957 - 3.96 Geneotype c.385C>A/c.385C>A + 2.343 Geneotype WT/c.385C>A FAAH + 1.614 Geneotype WT/WT Phenotype = 5.957 - 3.96 Phenotype rs324420 AA genotype + 2.343 Phenotype rs324420 CA genotype + 1.614 Phenotype rs324420 CC genotype MTHFR Max Pain Genotype = 7.489 + 0.844 Geneotype A1298C/A1298C - 4.99 Geneotype C677T/A1298C + 1.01 Geneotype_C677T/C677T + 2.01 Geneotype_WT/A1298C + 1.011 Geneotype WT/C677T+ 0.111 Geneotype WT/WT Phenotype = 7.489 + 2.01 Phenotype A1298C Heterozygous Mutation + 0.844 Phenotype A1298C Homozygous Mutation + 1.011 Phenotype C677T Heterozygous Mutation - 4.99 Phenotype C677T Heterozygous Mutation/A1298C Heterozygous Mutation + 1.01 Phenotype C677T Homozygous Mutation + 0.111 Phenotype Wild Type SLCO1B1 Max Pain Genotype = 7.390 + 1.247 Geneotype *1/*1 - 1.247 Geneotype *1/*5 Phenotype = 7.390 - 1.247 Phenotype_Intermediate Activity + 1.247 Phenotype_Normal Activity CDA MME Phenotype = 187.7 + 94.5 Phenotype rs532545 C Allele - 94.5 Phenotype rs532545 T Allele CNR1 MME Phenotype = 153.6 - 102.3 Phenotype rs806368 non-TT genotype + 102.3 Phenotype_rs806368 TT genotype Phenotype = 219.5 - 95.5 Phenotype High Inducibility Metabolizer + 95.5 Phenotype Normal Metabolizer CYP1A2 MME CYP4F2 Genotype = 47.22 - 5.56 Geneotype *1/*1 - 7.22 Geneotype *1/*3 + 12.78 Geneotype *3/*3 PPS% Phenotype = 47.22 - 7.22 Phenotype Intermediate Metabolizer - 5.56 Phenotype Normal Metabolizer + 12.78 Phenotype_Poor Metabolizer HLA-B PPS% Genotype = 46.67 - 1.67 Geneotype WT/*5701 + 8.33 Geneotype WT/*5801 - 6.67 Geneotype WT/WT Phenotype = 46.67 - 1.67 Phenotype HLA-B*5701 Allele Carrier + 8.33 Phenotype_HLA-B*5801 Allele Carrier - 6.67 Phenotype_WT NOS1AP PPS% Phenotype = 43.57 - 3.57 Phenotype rs10494366 GG genotype/rs10800397 C Allele Carrier/rs10919035 C Allele Carrier - 10.24 Phenotype rs10494366 GG genotype/rs10800397 T Allele Carrier/rs10919035 T Allele Carrier + 1.43 Phenotype_rs10494366 GT genotype/rs10800397 C Allele Carrier/rs10919035 C Allele Carrier - 3.57 Phenotype rs10494366 GT genotype/rs10800397 T Allele Carrier/rs10919035 C Allele Carrier - 1.90 Phenotype_rs10494366 GT genotype/rs10800397 T Allele Carrier/rs10919035 T Allele Carrier + 1.43 Phenotype_rs10494366 TT genotype/rs10800397 C Allele Carrier/rs10919035 C Allele Carrier + 16.43 Phenotype rs10494366 TT genotype/rs10800397 T Allele Carrier/rs10919035 T Allele Carrier UGT2B15 PPS% Genotype = 41.39 - 1.39 Geneotype *1/*1 + 6.11 Geneotype *1/*2 - 4.72 Geneotype *2/*2

APPENDIX 2. REGRESSION EQUATIONS
REFERENCES

- 1. Davis MP, Gutgsell T, Gamier P. What is the difference between palliative care and hospice care? *Cleve Clin J Med.* 2015;82(9):569-571. doi:10.3949/ccjm.82a.14145
- 2. Higginson I. Palliative care: a review of past changes and future trends. *J Public Health*. 1993;15(1):3-8. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.pubmed.a042817
- Antonacci R, Barrie C, Baxter S, et al. Gaps in Hospice and Palliative Care Research: A Scoping Review of the North American Literature. *J Aging Res.* 2020;2020:e3921245. doi:10.1155/2020/3921245
- 4. Khalil H, Ristevski E. The challenges of evidence-based palliative care research. *JBI Evid Implement*. 2018;16(3):136. doi:10.1097/XEB.00000000000153
- Strassels SA, Blough DK, Hazlet TK, Veenstra DL, Sullivan SD. Pain, Demographics, and Clinical Characteristics in Persons Who Received Hospice Care in the United States. *J Pain* Symptom Manage. 2006;32(6):519-531. doi:10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2006.06.005
- 6. Brown E, Morrison RS, Gelfman LP. An Update: NIH Research Funding for Palliative Medicine, 2011–2015. *J Palliat Med.* 2018;21(2):182-187. doi:10/gczxq6
- Buehler NJ, Frydman JL, Morrison RS, Gelfman LP. An Update: National Institutes of Health Research Funding for Palliative Medicine 2016-2020. *J Palliat Med.* 2023;26(4):509-516. doi:10.1089/jpm.2022.0316
- 8. Portenoy RK, Lesage P. Management of cancer pain. *Lancet Lond Engl.* 1999;353(9165):1695-1700. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(99)01310-0
- 9. Gamsa A. The role of psychological factors in chronic pain. I. A half century of study. *Pain*. 1994;57(1):5-15. doi:10.1016/0304-3959(94)90103-1
- Owusu Obeng A, Hamadeh I, Smith M. Review of Opioid Pharmacogenetics and Considerations for Pain Management. *Pharmacother J Hum Pharmacol Drug Ther*. 2017;37(9):1105-1121. doi:10.1002/phar.1986
- 11. Kumar S, Kundra P, Ramsamy K, Surendiran A. Pharmacogenetics of opioids: a narrative review. *Anaesthesia*. 2019;74(11):1456-1470. doi:10.1111/anae.14813
- Heneka N, Shaw T, Rowett D, Lapkin S, Phillips JL. Opioid errors in inpatient palliative care services: a retrospective review. *BMJ Support Palliat Care*. 2018;8(2):175-179. doi:10.1136/bmjspcare-2017-001417
- Heneka N, Bhattarai P, Shaw T, Rowett D, Lapkin S, Phillips JL. Clinicians' perceptions of opioid error–contributing factors in inpatient palliative care services: A qualitative study. *Palliat Med.* 2019;33(4):430-444. doi:10.1177/0269216319832799
- Yardley I, Yardley S, Williams H, Carson-Stevens A, Donaldson LJ. Patient safety in palliative care: A mixed-methods study of reports to a national database of serious incidents. *Palliat Med.* 2018;32(8):1353-1362. doi:10.1177/0269216318776846

- Kurita GP, Sjøgren P. Management of cancer pain: challenging the evidence of the recent palliative care opioid guidelines. *Pol Arch Intern Med.* Published online November 15, 2021. doi:10.20452/pamw.16136
- 16. Katzung BG, Kruidering-Hall M, Tuan RL, Vanderah TW, Trevor AJ. Opioid Analgesics & Antagonists. In: *Katzung & Trevor's Pharmacology: Examination & Board Review, 13e.* McGraw-Hill Education; 2021. Accessed July 20, 2023. accesspharmacy.mhmedical.com/content.aspx?aid=1180556894
- Zastrow M von. Drug Receptors & Pharmacodynamics. In: Katzung BG, Vanderah TW, eds. Basic & Clinical Pharmacology, 15e. McGraw-Hill; 2021. Accessed July 21, 2023. accesspharmacy.mhmedical.com/content.aspx?aid=1176461337
- 18. Holdcroft A, Jaggar S. Core Topics in Pain. Cambridge University Press; 2011.
- 19. Macintyre P, Rowbotham D, Walker S. *Clinical Pain Management : Acute Pain*. CRC Press; 2008.
- 20. Dietis N, Rowbotham DJ, Lambert DG. Opioid receptor subtypes: fact or artifact? *BJA Br J Anaesth*. 2011;107(1):8-18. doi:10.1093/bja/aer115
- 21. Devi R, Vallejo R, Barkin R, Wang V, Vallejo R, Anderson C. OPIOID Pharmacology: A Review. Published online 2015.
- 22. Shi Q, Cleeland CS, Klepstad P, Miaskowski C, Pedersen NL, GeneQOL Consortium. Biological pathways and genetic variables involved in pain. *Qual Life Res Int J Qual Life Asp Treat Care Rehabil.* 2010;19(10):1407-1417. doi:10.1007/s11136-010-9738-x
- 23. Dickenson A. The spinal pharmacology of pain. *Br J Anaesth*. 1995;75:193-200. doi:10.1093/bja/75.2.193
- 24. Kovelowski CJ, Ossipov MH, Sun H, Lai J, Malan TP, Porreca F. Supraspinal cholecystokinin may drive tonic descending facilitation mechanisms to maintain neuropathic pain in the rat. *Pain*. 2000;87(3):265-273. doi:10.1016/S0304-3959(00)00290-6
- Kwon M, Altin M, Duenas H, Alev L. The Role of Descending Inhibitory Pathways on Chronic Pain Modulation and Clinical Implications. *Pain Pract.* 2014;14(7):656-667. doi:10.1111/papr.12145
- 26. Pasternak GW. Molecular Biology of Opioid Analgesia. *J Pain Symptom Manage*. 2005;29(5):2-9. doi:10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2005.01.011
- Leppert W, Krajnik M, Wordliczek J. Delivery Systems of Opioid Analgesics for Pain Relief: A Review. *Curr Pharm Des.* 2013;19(41):7271-7293. doi:10.2174/138161281941131219130127
- Schumacher MA, Basbaum AI, Naidu RK. Opioid Agonists & Antagonists. In: Katzung BG, Vanderah TW, eds. *Basic & Clinical Pharmacology*, 15e. McGraw-Hill; 2021. Accessed July 21, 2023. accesspharmacy.mhmedical.com/content.aspx?aid=1176466482
- 29. Nelson L, Schwaner R. Transdermal fentanyl: Pharmacology and toxicology. J Med Toxicol.

2009;5(4):230-241. doi:10.1007/BF03178274

- Kuip EJM, Zandvliet ML, Koolen SLW, Mathijssen RHJ, van der Rijt CCD. A review of factors explaining variability in fentanyl pharmacokinetics; focus on implications for cancer patients. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*. 2017;83(2):294-313. doi:10.1111/bcp.13129
- 31. Smith HS. Opioid Metabolism. Mayo Clin Proc. 2009;84(7):613-624.
- 32. Portenoy RK, Thaler HT, Inturrisi CE, Friedlander-Klar H, Foley KM. The metabolite morphine-6-glucuronide contributes to the analgesia produced by morphine infusion in patients with pain and normal renal function. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*. 1992;51(4):422-431. doi:10.1038/clpt.1992.42
- 33. Herndon CM, Kominek CM, Mullins AM. Pain Management. In: DiPiro JT, Yee GC, Haines ST, Nolin TD, Ellingrod VL, Posey LM, eds. *DiPiro's Pharmacotherapy: A Pathophysiologic Approach, 12th Edition.* McGraw Hill; 2023. Accessed July 21, 2023. accesspharmacy.mhmedical.com/content.aspx?aid=1201553221
- Susce MT, Murray-Carmichael E, de Leon J. Response to hydrocodone, codeine and oxycodone in a CYP2D6 poor metabolizer. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. 2006;30(7):1356-1358. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2006.03.018
- 35. Lugo RA, Kern SE. The pharmacokinetics of oxycodone. *J Pain Palliat Care Pharmacother*. 2004;18(4):17-30. doi:10.1300/j354v18n04_03
- Cone EJ, Heltsley R, Black DL, Mitchell JM, Lodico CP, Flegel RR. Prescription opioids. I. Metabolism and excretion patterns of oxycodone in urine following controlled single dose administration. *J Anal Toxicol.* 2013;37(5):255-264. doi:10.1093/jat/bkt031
- Dumas EO, Pollack GM. Opioid Tolerance Development: A Pharmacokinetic/Pharmacodynamic Perspective. AAPS J. 2008;10(4):537-551. doi:10.1208/s12248-008-9056-1
- Allouche S, Noble F, Marie N. Opioid receptor desensitization: mechanisms and its link to tolerance. *Front Pharmacol*. 2014;5. Accessed July 21, 2023. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphar.2014.00280
- Descalzi G, Ikegami D, Ushijima T, Nestler EJ, Zachariou V, Narita M. Epigenetic mechanisms of chronic pain. *Trends Neurosci*. 2015;38(4):237-246. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2015.02.001
- 40. Bird A. Perceptions of epigenetics. *Nature*. 2007;447(7143):396-398. doi:10.1038/nature05913
- 41. Meaney MJ, Ferguson-Smith AC. Epigenetic regulation of the neural transcriptome: the meaning of the marks. *Nat Neurosci*. 2010;13(11):1313-1318. doi:10.1038/nn1110-1313
- 42. Baylin SB, Jones PA. Epigenetic Determinants of Cancer. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol*. 2016;8(9):a019505. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a019505
- 43. Jang HS, Shin WJ, Lee JE, Do JT. CpG and Non-CpG Methylation in Epigenetic Gene

Regulation and Brain Function. Genes. 2017;8(6):148. doi:10.3390/genes8060148

- 44. Bannister AJ, Kouzarides T. Regulation of chromatin by histone modifications. *Cell Res.* 2011;21(3):381-395. doi:10.1038/cr.2011.22
- 45. Liang L, Lutz BM, Bekker A, Tao YX. Epigenetic regulation of chronic pain. *Epigenomics*. 2015;7(2):235-245. doi:10.2217/epi.14.75
- 46. Bailey CP, Kelly E, Henderson G. Protein kinase C activation enhances morphine-induced rapid desensitization of mu-opioid receptors in mature rat locus ceruleus neurons. *Mol Pharmacol.* 2004;66(6):1592-1598. doi:10.1124/mol.104.004747
- 47. Kosik KS. The neuronal microRNA system. *Nat Rev Neurosci*. 2006;7(12):911-920. doi:10.1038/nrn2037
- Smirnova L, Gräfe A, Seiler A, Schumacher S, Nitsch R, Wulczyn FG. Regulation of miRNA expression during neural cell specification. *Eur J Neurosci*. 2005;21(6):1469-1477. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2005.03978.x
- He Y, Yang C, Kirkmire CM, Wang ZJ. Regulation of Opioid Tolerance by let-7 Family MicroRNA Targeting the μ Opioid Receptor. *J Neurosci*. 2010;30(30):10251-10258. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2419-10.2010
- Zhang H, De T, Zhong Y, Perera MA. The Advantages and Challenges of Diversity in Pharmacogenomics: Can Minority Populations Bring Us Closer to Implementation? *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 2019;106(2):338-349. doi:10.1002/cpt.1491
- Saiz-Rodríguez M, Ochoa D, Belmonte C, et al. Polymorphisms in CYP1A2, CYP2C9 and ABCB1 affect agomelatine pharmacokinetics. *J Psychopharmacol Oxf Engl.* 2019;33(4):522-531. doi:10.1177/0269881119827959
- Collins JJ, Berde CB, Grier HE, Nachmanoff DB, Kinney HC. Massive opioid resistance in an infant with a localized metastasis to the midbrain periaqueductal gray. *PAIN®*. 1995;63(2):271-275. doi:10.1016/0304-3959(95)00094-9
- 53. Müller DJ, Rizhanovsky Z. From the Origins of Pharmacogenetics to First Applications in Psychiatry. *Pharmacopsychiatry*. 2020;53(4):155-161. doi:10.1055/a-0979-2322
- 54. Nebert DW. Pharmacogenetics and pharmacogenomics: why is this relevant to the clinical geneticist? *Clin Genet*. 1999;56(4):247-258. doi:10.1034/j.1399-0004.1999.560401.x
- 55. McMillin GA. Pharmacogenomics. In: *Contemporary Practice in Clinical Chemistry*. Elsevier; 2020:953-963. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-815499-1.00053-3
- 56. Chu E, Sartorelli A. Cancer chemotherapy. *Lange's Basic Clin Pharmacol*. Published online 2018:948-976.
- Patel JN, Papachristos A. Personalizing chemotherapy dosing using pharmacological methods. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol*. 2015;76(5):879-896. doi:10.1007/s00280-015-2849-x

- Abaji R, Krajinovic M. Thiopurine S-methyltransferase polymorphisms in acute lymphoblastic leukemia, inflammatory bowel disease and autoimmune disorders: influence on treatment response. *Pharmacogenomics Pers Med.* 2017;10:143-156. doi:10.2147/PGPM.S108123
- Cacabelos R, Naidoo V, Corzo L, Cacabelos N, Carril JC. Genophenotypic Factors and Pharmacogenomics in Adverse Drug Reactions. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2021;22(24). doi:10.3390/ijms222413302
- Ghodke-Puranik YA, Lamba JK. Chapter 7 Pharmacogenomics. In: Patwardhan B, Chaguturu R, eds. *Innovative Approaches in Drug Discovery*. Academic Press; 2017:195-234. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-801814-9.00007-6
- 61. Hippman C, Nislow C. Pharmacogenomic Testing: Clinical Evidence and Implementation Challenges. *J Pers Med.* 2019;9(3):40. doi:10.3390/jpm9030040
- 62. Robert F, Pelletier J. Exploring the Impact of Single-Nucleotide Polymorphisms on Translation. *Front Genet*. 2018;9:507. doi:10.3389/fgene.2018.00507
- Børsting C, Morling N. Single-Nucleotide Polymorphisms. In: Siegel JA, Saukko PJ, Houck MM, eds. *Encyclopedia of Forensic Sciences (Second Edition)*. Academic Press; 2013:233-238. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-382165-2.00042-8
- 64. Erdoğan O, Aydin Son Y. Predicting the disease of Alzheimer with SNP biomarkers and clinical data using data mining classification approach: decision tree. *Stud Health Technol Inform.* 2014;205:511-515.
- 65. Hunt R, Sauna ZE, Ambudkar SV, Gottesman MM, Kimchi-Sarfaty C. Silent (Synonymous) SNPs: Should We Care About Them? In: Komar AA, ed. *Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms: Methods and Protocols*. Methods in Molecular Biology[™]. Humana Press; 2009:23-39. doi:10.1007/978-1-60327-411-1 2
- 66. Campbell NR, Harmon SA, Narum SR. Genotyping-in-Thousands by sequencing (GT-seq): A cost effective SNP genotyping method based on custom amplicon sequencing. *Mol Ecol Resour.* 2015;15(4):855-867. doi:10.1111/1755-0998.12357
- 67. Wang Z, Moult J. SNPs, protein structure, and disease. *Hum Mutat.* 2001;17(4):263-270. doi:10.1002/humu.22
- 68. Sauna ZE, Kimchi-Sarfaty C. Understanding the contribution of synonymous mutations to human disease. *Nat Rev Genet*. 2011;12(10):683-691. doi:10.1038/nrg3051
- 69. Bessenyei B, Márka M, Urbán L, Zeher M, Semsei I. Single nucleotide polymorphisms: aging and diseases. *Biogerontology*. 2004;5(5):291-303. doi:10.1007/s10522-004-2567-y
- 70. Allegri M, De Gregori M, Niebel T, et al. Pharmacogenetics and postoperative pain: a new approach to improve acute pain management. *Minerva Anestesiol*. 2010;76(11):937-944.
- Shabalina SA, Zaykin DV, Gris P, et al. Expansion of the human μ-opioid receptor gene architecture: novel functional variants. *Hum Mol Genet*. 2009;18(6):1037-1051. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddn439

- Mura E, Govoni S, Racchi M, et al. Consequences of the 118A>G polymorphism in the OPRM1 gene: translation from bench to bedside? *J Pain Res*. 2013;6:331-353. doi:10.2147/JPR.S42040
- Huang P, Chen C, Mague SD, Blendy JA, Liu-Chen LY. A common single nucleotide polymorphism A118G of the μ opioid receptor alters its N-glycosylation and protein stability. *Biochem J.* 2012;441(1):379-386. doi:10.1042/BJ20111050
- 74. Chou WY, Yang LC, Lu HF, et al. Association of μ-opioid receptor gene polymorphism (A118G) with variations in morphine consumption for analgesia after total knee arthroplasty. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand*. 2006;50(7):787-792. doi:10.1111/j.1399-6576.2006.01058.x
- 75. Klepstad P, Rakvåg TT, Kaasa S, et al. The 118 A > G polymorphism in the human muopioid receptor gene may increase morphine requirements in patients with pain caused by malignant disease. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand*. 2004;48(10):1232-1239. doi:10.1111/j.1399-6576.2004.00517.x
- 76. Ji JZ, Huang BB, Gu TT, et al. Human UGT2B7 is the major isoform responsible for the glucuronidation of clopidogrel carboxylate. *Biopharm Drug Dispos*. 2018;39(2):88-98. doi:10.1002/bdd.2117
- 77. Holthe M, Rakvåg TN, Klepstad P, et al. Sequence variations in the UDPglucuronosyltransferase 2B7 (UGT2B7) gene: identification of 10 novel single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and analysis of their relevance to morphine glucuronidation in cancer patients. *Pharmacogenomics J.* 2003;3(1):17-26. doi:10.1038/sj.tpj.6500139
- Meissner K, Meyer zu Schwabedissen H, Göpfert C, et al. UDP glucuronosyltransferase 2B7 single nucleotide polymorphism (rs7439366) influences heat pain response in human volunteers after i.v. morphine infusion. *Crit Care*. 2011;15(1):P363. doi:10.1186/cc9783
- Shu Y, Brown C, Castro R, et al. Effect of Genetic Variation in the Organic Cation Transporter 1, OCT1, on Metformin Pharmacokinetics. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*. 2008;83(2):273-280. doi:10.1038/sj.clpt.6100275
- Ofoegbu A, B. Ettienne E. Pharmacogenomics and Morphine. J Clin Pharmacol. 2021;61(9):1149-1155. doi:10.1002/jcph.1873
- Tzvetkov MV, dos Santos Pereira JN, Meineke I, Saadatmand AR, Stingl JC, Brockmöller J. Morphine is a substrate of the organic cation transporter OCT1 and polymorphisms in OCT1 gene affect morphine pharmacokinetics after codeine administration. *Biochem Pharmacol*. 2013;86(5):666-678. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2013.06.019
- Fukuda T, Chidambaran V, Mizuno T, et al. OCT1 genetic variants influence the pharmacokinetics of morphine in children. *Pharmacogenomics*. 2013;14(10):1141-1151. doi:10.2217/pgs.13.94
- Ahmed S, Zhou Z, Zhou J, Chen SQ. Pharmacogenomics of Drug Metabolizing Enzymes and Transporters: Relevance to Precision Medicine. *Genomics Proteomics Bioinformatics*. 2016;14(5):298-313. doi:10.1016/j.gpb.2016.03.008
- 84. Zuo L, Wang K, Luo X. Use of diplotypes matched haplotype pairs from homologous

chromosomes – in gene-disease association studies. *Shanghai Arch Psychiatry*. 2014;26(3):165-170. doi:10.3969/j.issn.1002-0829.2014.03.009

- Snyder MW, Adey A, Kitzman JO, Shendure J. Haplotype-resolved genome sequencing: experimental methods and applications. *Nat Rev Genet*. 2015;16(6):344-358. doi:10.1038/nrg3903
- Kalman L, Agúndez J, Appell ML, et al. Pharmacogenetic allele nomenclature: International workgroup recommendations for test result reporting. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*. 2016;99(2):172-185. doi:10.1002/cpt.280
- Kloypan C, Koomdee N, Satapornpong P, Tempark T, Biswas M, Sukasem C. A Comprehensive Review of HLA and Severe Cutaneous Adverse Drug Reactions: Implication for Clinical Pharmacogenomics and Precision Medicine. *Pharmaceuticals*. 2021;14(11):1077. doi:10.3390/ph14111077
- 88. Carr D, Alfirevic A, Pirmohamed M. Pharmacogenomics: Current State-of-the-Art. *Genes*. 2014;5(2):430-443. doi:10.3390/genes5020430
- Caudle KE, Dunnenberger HM, Freimuth RR, et al. Standardizing terms for clinical pharmacogenetic test results: consensus terms from the Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium (CPIC). *Genet Med.* 2017;19(2):215-223. doi:10.1038/gim.2016.87
- 90. Bruford EA, Braschi B, Denny P, Jones TEM, Seal RL, Tweedie S. Guidelines for Human Gene Nomenclature. *Nat Genet*. 2020;52(8):754-758. doi:10.1038/s41588-020-0669-3
- 91. Anderson F, Downing GM, Hill J, Casorso L, Lerch N. Palliative Performance Scale (PPS): A New Tool. *J Palliat Care*. 1996;12(1):5-11. doi:10.1177/082585979601200102
- Herr K, Titler M, Fine P, et al. Assessing and Treating Pain in Hospices: Current State of Evidence-Based Practices. *J Pain Symptom Manage*. 2010;39(5):803-819. doi:10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2009.09.025
- Farrar JT, Young JP, LaMoreaux L, Werth JL, Poole MR. Clinical importance of changes in chronic pain intensity measured on an 11-point numerical pain rating scale. *Pain*. 2001;94(2):149-158. doi:10.1016/S0304-3959(01)00349-9
- 94. Smith HS. The Numerical Opioid Side Effect (NOSE) Assessment Tool. J Cancer Pain Symptom Palliation. 2005;1(3):3-6. doi:10.3109/J427v01n03_02
- 95. Dowell D, Haegerich TM, Chou R. CDC Guideline for Prescribing Opioids for Chronic Pain—United States, 2016. *JAMA*. 2016;315(15):1624-1645. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.1464
- Jaeger TF. Categorical data analysis: Away from ANOVAs (transformation or not) and towards logit mixed models. *J Mem Lang.* 2008;59(4):434-446. doi:10.1016/j.jml.2007.11.007
- 97. Marrelli TM. Hospice Diagnoses and Guidelines for Care. In: *Hospice & Palliative Care Handbook: Quality, Compliance, and Reimbursement, 3e.* Sigma Theta Tau International; 2018. Accessed July 15, 2023. apn.mhmedical.com/content.aspx?aid=1189317989

- 98. Muir AJ, Gong L, Johnson SG, et al. Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium (CPIC) Guidelines for IFNL3 (IL28B) Genotype and PEG Interferon-α–Based Regimens. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*. 2014;95(2):141-146. doi:10.1038/clpt.2013.203
- Carmichael AN, Morgan L, Del Fabbro E. Identifying and assessing the risk of opioid abuse in patients with cancer: an integrative review. *Subst Abuse Rehabil*. 2016;7:71-79. doi:10.2147/SAR.S85409
- 100. Munkombwe WM, Petersson K, Elgán C. Nurses' experiences of providing nonpharmacological pain management in palliative care: A qualitative study. *J Clin Nurs*. 2020;29(9-10):1643-1652. doi:10.1111/jocn.15232
- 101. Garibyan L, Chiou AS, Elmariah SB. Advanced aging skin and itch: addressing an unmet need. *Dermatol Ther.* 2013;26(2):92-103. doi:10.1111/dth.12029
- 102. Mold JW, Roberts M, Aboshady HM. Prevalence and Predictors of Night Sweats, Day Sweats, and Hot Flashes in Older Primary Care Patients: An OKPRN Study. Ann Fam Med. 2004;2(5):391-397. doi:10.1370/afm.72
- Eslam M, Leung R, Romero-Gomez M, et al. IFNL3 polymorphisms predict response to therapy in chronic hepatitis C genotype 2/3 infection. *J Hepatol*. 2014;61(2):235-241. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2014.03.039
- 104. Lu YF, Goldstein DB, Angrist M, Cavalleri G. Personalized Medicine and Human Genetic Diversity. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med.* 2014;4(9):a008581. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a008581
- 105. Suchankova P, Henningsson S, Olsson M, et al. Association between the AGTR1 polymorphism +1166A>C and serum levels of high-sensitivity C-reactive protein. *Regul Pept.* 2009;152(1-3):28-32. doi:10.1016/j.regpep.2008.11.001
- 106. Mantilla CB, Bailey JP, Zhan WZ, Sieck GC. Phrenic motoneuron expression of serotonergic and glutamatergic receptors following upper cervical spinal cord injury. *Exp Neurol.* 2012;234(1):191-199. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2011.12.036
- 107. Aoki J, Hayashida M, Tagami M, et al. Association between 5-hydroxytryptamine 2A receptor gene polymorphism and postoperative analgesic requirements after major abdominal surgery. *Neurosci Lett.* 2010;479(1):40-43. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2010.05.024
- 108. Niemi M, Pasanen MK, Neuvonen PJ. Organic anion transporting polypeptide 1B1: a genetically polymorphic transporter of major importance for hepatic drug uptake. *Pharmacol Rev.* 2011;63(1):157-181. doi:10.1124/pr.110.002857
- 109. Court MH, Hao Q, Krishnaswamy S, et al. UDP-glucuronosyltransferase (UGT) 2B15 pharmacogenetics: UGT2B15 D85Y genotype and gender are major determinants of oxazepam glucuronidation by human liver. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*. 2004;310(2):656-665. doi:10.1124/jpet.104.067660
- 110. Chung J, Cho J, Yu K, et al. Effect of the genotype on the pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, and drug interactions of intravenous lorazepam in healthy volunteers. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 2005;77(6):486-494. doi:10.1016/j.clpt.2005.02.006

- Nissinen E, Männistö PT. Biochemistry and Pharmacology of Catechol-O-Methyltransferase Inhibitors. In: Nissinen E, ed. *International Review of Neurobiology*. Vol 95. Basic Aspects of Catechol-O-Methyltransferase and the Clinical Applications of its Inhibitors. Academic Press; 2010:73-118. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-381326-8.00005-3
- 112. Rakvåg TT, Ross JR, Sato H, Skorpen F, Kaasa S, Klepstad P. Genetic Variation in the *Catechol-O-Methyltransferase (COMT)* Gene and Morphine Requirements in Cancer Patients with Pain. *Mol Pain*. 2008;4:1744-8069-4-64. doi:10.1186/1744-8069-4-64
- 113. Baumbauer KM, Ramesh D, Perry M, et al. Contribution of COMT and BDNF Genotype and Expression to the Risk of Transition From Acute to Chronic Low Back Pain. *Clin J Pain*. 2020;36(6):430-439. doi:10.1097/AJP.000000000000819
- 114. Berthele A, Platzer S, Jochim B, et al. COMT Val108/158Met genotype affects the muopioid receptor system in the human brain: Evidence from ligand-binding, G-protein activation and preproenkephalin mRNA expression. *NeuroImage*. 2005;28(1):185-193. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.05.030
- 115. Martire LM, Wilson SJ, Small BJ, Conley YP, Janicki PK, Sliwinski MJ. COMT and OPRM1 genotype associations with daily knee pain variability and activity induced pain. *Scand J Pain*. 2016;10(1):6-12. doi:10.1016/j.sjpain.2015.07.004
- Schaffenburg WC, Lockshin BN, DeKlotz CMC. Polymorphisms. In: Comprehensive Dermatologic Drug Therapy. Elsevier; 2021:21-33.e2. doi:10.1016/B978-0-323-61211-1.00003-6
- 117. Ghotbi R, Christensen M, Roh HK, Ingelman-Sundberg M, Aklillu E, Bertilsson L. Comparisons of CYP1A2 genetic polymorphisms, enzyme activity and the genotypephenotype relationship in Swedes and Koreans. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*. 2007;63(6):537-546. doi:10.1007/s00228-007-0288-2
- 118. Marić NP, Nikolić SP, Buzadžić I, et al. »Treatment Resistance« Enigma Resolved by Pharmacogenomics - A Case Study of Clozapine Therapy in Schizophrenia. *J Med Biochem*. 2015;34(2):223-227. doi:10.2478/jomb-2014-0041
- Zanger UM, Klein K, Saussele T, Blievernicht J, Hofmann MH, Schwab M. Polymorphic CYP2B6: molecular mechanisms and emerging clinical significance. *Pharmacogenomics*. 2007;8(7):743-759. doi:10.2217/14622416.8.7.743
- 120. Turpeinen M, Zanger UM. Cytochrome P450 2B6: function, genetics, and clinical relevance. *Drug Metabol Drug Interact*. 2012;27(4). doi:10.1515/dmdi-2012-0027
- 121. Wang SC, Ho IK, Tsou HH, et al. CYP2B6 polymorphisms influence the plasma concentration and clearance of the methadone S-enantiomer. *J Clin Psychopharmacol*. 2011;31(4):463-469. doi:10.1097/JCP.0b013e318222b5dd
- 122. Undieh AS. Pharmacology of signaling induced by dopamine D1-like receptor activation. *Pharmacol Ther.* 2010;128(1):37-60. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2010.05.003
- 123. Burns JA, Kroll DS, Feldman DE, et al. Molecular Imaging of Opioid and Dopamine Systems: Insights Into the Pharmacogenetics of Opioid Use Disorders. *Front Psychiatry*.

2019;10. Accessed November 1, 2023. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00626

- 124. Moses TEH, Burmeister M, Greenwald MK. Heroin delay discounting and impulsivity: Modulation by DRD1 genetic variation. *Addict Biol.* 2020;25(3):e12777. doi:10.1111/adb.12777
- 125. Blum K, Chen ALC, Thanos PK, et al. Genetic addiction risk score (GARS) [™], a predictor of vulnerability to opioid dependence. *Front Biosci Elite Ed.* 2018;10(1):175-196. doi:10.2741/e816
- 126. Peng S, Du J, Jiang H, et al. The dopamine receptor D1 gene is associated with the length of interval between first heroin use and onset of dependence in Chinese Han heroin addicts. J Neural Transm. 2013;120(11):1591-1598. doi:10.1007/s00702-013-1029-6
- 127. Zhu F, Yan C xia, Wen Y chong, et al. Dopamine D1 Receptor Gene Variation Modulates Opioid Dependence Risk by Affecting Transition to Addiction. *PLOS ONE*. 2013;8(8):e70805. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0070805
- 128. Ando T, Tamura N, Mera T, et al. Association of the c.385C>A (p.Pro129Thr) polymorphism of the fatty acid amide hydrolase gene with anorexia nervosa in the Japanese population. *Mol Genet Genomic Med.* 2014;2(4):313-318. doi:10.1002/mgg3.69
- 129. Fine PG, Rosenfeld MJ. The Endocannabinoid System, Cannabinoids, and Pain. *Rambam Maimonides Med J.* 2013;4(4):e0022. doi:10.5041/RMMJ.10129
- 130. Kathuria S, Gaetani S, Fegley D, et al. Modulation of anxiety through blockade of anandamide hydrolysis. *Nat Med.* 2003;9(1):76-81. doi:10.1038/nm803
- 131. Leclerc D, Sibani S, Rozen R. Molecular Biology of Methylenetetrahydrofolate Reductase (MTHFR) and Overview of Mutations/Polymorphisms. In: *Madame Curie Bioscience Database [Internet]*. Landes Bioscience; 2013. Accessed July 25, 2023. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK6561/
- 132. Moll S, Varga EA. Homocysteine and MTHFR Mutations. *Circulation*. 2015;132(1):e6-e9. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.114.013311
- Bezold G, Lange M, Peter RU. Homozygous Methylenetetrahydrofolate Reductase C677T Mutation and Male Infertility. *N Engl J Med.* 2001;344(15):1172-1173. doi:10.1056/NEJM200104123441517
- 134. Essmeister R, Kress HG, Zierz S, Griffith L, Lea R, Wieser T. MTHFR and ACE Polymorphisms Do Not Increase Susceptibility to Migraine Neither Alone Nor in Combination. *Headache J Head Face Pain*. 2016;56(8):1267-1273. doi:10.1111/head.12893
- 135. Cole L, Cernasev A, Webb K, Kumar S, Rowe AS. A Study of the MTHFR Gene Prevalence in a Rural Tennessee Opioid Use Disorder Treatment Center Population. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2022;19(6):3255. doi:10.3390/ijerph19063255
- 136. Ramsey LB, Bruun GH, Yang W, et al. Rare versus common variants in pharmacogenetics: SLCO1B1 variation and methotrexate disposition. *Genome Res.*

2012;22(1):1-8. doi:10.1101/gr.129668.111

- 137. Banklaui C, Jindadamrongwech S, Sawangpanich R, et al. Effect of genetic alterations of cytarabine-metabolizing enzymes in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Hematol Oncol Stem Cell Ther*. 2010;3(3):103-108. doi:10.1016/S1658-3876(10)50019-0
- 138. Frances A, Cordelier P. The Emerging Role of Cytidine Deaminase in Human Diseases: A New Opportunity for Therapy? *Mol Ther*. 2020;28(2):357-366. doi:10.1016/j.ymthe.2019.11.026
- Zou S, Kumar U. Cannabinoid Receptors and the Endocannabinoid System: Signaling and Function in the Central Nervous System. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2018;19(3):833. doi:10.3390/ijms19030833
- 140. Benyamina A, Kebir O, Blecha L, Reynaud M, Krebs MO. CNR1 gene polymorphisms in addictive disorders: a systematic review and a meta-analysis: CNR1 gene polymorphisms in addictive disorders. *Addict Biol.* 2011;16(1):1-6. doi:10.1111/j.1369-1600.2009.00198.x
- 141. Parolaro D. Role of endocannabinoids in regulating drug dependence. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat.* 2008;Volume 3:711-721. doi:10.2147/NDT.S976
- 142. Scavone JL, Sterling RC, Van Bockstaele EJ. Cannabinoid and opioid interactions: Implications for opiate dependence and withdrawal. *Neuroscience*. 2013;248:637-654. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.04.034
- 143. Wilcox RA, Owen H. Variable Cytochrome P450 2D6 Expression and Metabolism of Codeine and Other Opioid Prodrugs: Implications for the Australian Anaesthetist. *Anaesth Intensive Care*. 2000;28(6):611-619. doi:10.1177/0310057X0002800602
- Jin R, Koop DR, Raucy JL, Lasker JM. Role of human CYP4F2 in hepatic catabolism of the proinflammatory agent leukotriene B4. *Arch Biochem Biophys*. 1998;359(1):89-98. doi:10.1006/abbi.1998.0880
- 145. Daly AK. Chapter 24 Pharmacogenomics of Warfarin. In: Padmanabhan S, ed. Handbook of Pharmacogenomics and Stratified Medicine. Academic Press; 2014:497-507. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-386882-4.00024-4
- 146. Gao L, He L, Luo J, et al. Extremely low warfarin dose in patients with genotypes of CYP2C9*3/*3 and VKORC1-1639A/A. *Chin Med J (Engl)*. 2011;124(17):2767-2770.
- 147. Park JW, Kim KA, Park JY. Effects of Ketoconazole, a CYP4F2 Inhibitor, and CYP4F2*3 Genetic Polymorphism on Pharmacokinetics of Vitamin K1. *J Clin Pharmacol*. 2019;59(11):1453-1461. doi:10.1002/jcph.1444
- 148. Chen X, Liu Y, Wang Y, et al. CYP4F2-Catalyzed Metabolism of Arachidonic Acid Promotes Stromal Cell-Mediated Immunosuppression in Non–Small Cell Lung Cancer. *Cancer Res.* 2022;82(21):4016-4030. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-21-4029
- Cruz-Tapias P, Castiblanco J, Anaya JM. Major histocompatibility complex: Antigen processing and presentation. In: *Autoimmunity: From Bench to Bedside [Internet]*. El Rosario University Press; 2013. Accessed July 25, 2023.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK459467/

- 150. Sukasem C, Jantararoungtong T, Kuntawong P, et al. HLA-B*58:01 for Allopurinol-Induced Cutaneous Adverse Drug Reactions: Implication for Clinical Interpretation in Thailand. *Front Pharmacol.* 2016;7:186. doi:10.3389/fphar.2016.00186
- 151. Phillips E, Bartlett JA, Sanne I, et al. Associations between HLA-DRB1*0102, HLA-B*5801 and Hepatotoxicity during Initiation of Nevirapine-Containing Regimens in South Africa. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999. 2013;62(2):e55-e57. doi:10.1097/QAI.0b013e31827ca50f
- 152. Freudenberg F, Alttoa A, Reif A. Neuronal nitric oxide synthase (NOS1) and its adaptor, NOS1AP, as a genetic risk factors for psychiatric disorders. *Genes Brain Behav*. 2015;14(1):46-63. doi:10.1111/gbb.12193
- 153. Becker ML, Aarnoudse AJLHJ, Newton-Cheh C, et al. Common variation in the NOS1AP gene is associated with reduced glucose-lowering effect and with increased mortality in users of sulfonylurea. *Pharmacogenet Genomics*. 2008;18(7):591-597. doi:10.1097/FPC.0b013e328300e8c5
- 154. Jamshidi Y, Nolte IM, Dalageorgou C, et al. Common variation in the NOS1AP gene is associated with drug-induced QT prolongation and ventricular arrhythmia. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2012;60(9):841-850. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2012.03.031
- 155. Nowell SA, Ahn J, Rae JM, et al. Association of genetic variation in tamoxifenmetabolizing enzymes with overall survival and recurrence of disease in breast cancer patients. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2005;91(3):249-258. doi:10.1007/s10549-004-7751-x

Name	Daniel Bianculli
Baccalaureate Degree	Bachelor of Science, Fordham University, New York Major: Psychology
Date Graduated	May, 2006
Other Degrees and Certificates	Master of Science, Long Island University, C.W. Post, Brookville, Major: Biology
Date Graduated	May, 2010

Daniel Bianculli

Vita